National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence

Issue date: December 2011

Anaphylaxis

Assessment to confirm an anaphylactic episode and the decision to refer after emergency treatment for a suspected anaphylactic episode

NICE clinical guideline 134 Developed by the Centre for Clinical Practice at NICE

Anaphylaxis

Ordering information

You can download the following documents from <u>www.nice.org.uk/guidance/CG134</u>

- The NICE guideline all the recommendations.
- The NICE pathway a set of online diagrams that brings together all NICE guidance and support tools.
- 'Understanding NICE guidance' a summary for patients and carers.
- The full guideline (this document) all the recommendations, details of how they were developed, and reviews of the evidence they were based on.

For printed copies of the 'Understanding NICE guidance', phone NICE publications on 0845 003 7783 or email publications@nice.org.uk and quote:

• N2692 ('Understanding NICE guidance').

NICE clinical guidelines are recommendations about the treatment and care of people with specific diseases and conditions in the NHS in England and Wales.

This guidance represents the view of NICE, which was arrived at after careful consideration of the evidence available. Healthcare professionals are expected to take it fully into account when exercising their clinical judgement. However, the guidance does not override the individual responsibility of healthcare professionals to make decisions appropriate to the circumstances of the individual patient, in consultation with the patient and/or guardian or carer, and informed by the summary of product characteristics of any drugs they are considering.

Implementation of this guidance is the responsibility of local commissioners and/or providers. Commissioners and providers are reminded that it is their responsibility to implement the guidance, in their local context, in light of their duties to avoid unlawful discrimination and to have regard to promoting equality of opportunity. Nothing in this guidance should be interpreted in a way that would be inconsistent with compliance with those duties.

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence

Level 1A, City Tower Piccadilly Plaza Manchester M1 4BT

www.nice.org.uk

© National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, 2011. All rights reserved. This material may be freely reproduced for educational and not-for-profit purposes. No reproduction by or for commercial organisations, or for commercial purposes, is allowed without the express written permission of NICE.

Contents

Introduction	4
Patient-centred care	7
1 Recommendations	9
1.1 List of all recommendations	9
2 Care pathway	.12
3 Evidence review and recommendations	.13
3.1 Use and timing of mast cell tryptase testing in the anaphylaxis	
diagnostic pathway	.13
3.2 Duration of observation after a suspected anaphylactic reaction	.27
3.3 Assessment and the decision to refer after a suspected anaphylact	ic
reaction	. 37
3.4 Patient information after a suspected anaphylactic reaction	.65
3.5 Models of care for the diagnosis of anaphylaxis	.69
4 Notes on the scope of the guideline	.74
5 Implementation	.74
6 Other versions of this guideline	.74
6.1 NICE pathway	.74
6.2 'Understanding NICE guidance'	.74
7 Related NICE guidance	.75
8 Updating the guideline	.75
9 References	.75
10 Glossary and abbreviations	.80
Appendix A Contributors and declarations of interests	.82
Appendix B List of all research recommendations	.88
Appendix C Guideline scope	.91
Appendix D How this guideline was developed	.92
Appendix E Evidence tables	.93
Appendix F Full health economic report	.94
Appendix G Technical assessment report (sections 3.3.2 and 3.3.4)	.95

Appendices C, D, E, F and G are in separate files.



NHS Evidence has accredited the process used by the Centre for Clinical Practice at NICE to produce guidelines. Accreditation is valid for 3 years from April 2010 and is applicable to guidance produced using the processes described in NICE's 'The guidelines manual' (2009). More information on accreditation can be viewed at www.evidence.nhs.uk

Introduction

Anaphylaxis

Anaphylaxis is a severe, life-threatening, generalised or systemic hypersensitivity reaction. It is characterised by rapidly developing, life-threatening problems involving: the airway (pharyngeal or laryngeal oedema) and/or breathing (bronchospasm with tachypnoea) and/or circulation (hypotension and/or tachycardia). In most cases, there are associated skin and mucosal changes¹.

In emergency departments a person who presents with the signs and symptoms listed above may be classified as having a 'severe allergic' reaction rather than an 'anaphylactic' reaction. Throughout this guideline, anyone who presents with such signs and symptoms is classed as experiencing a 'suspected anaphylactic reaction', and should be diagnosed as having 'suspected anaphylaxis'.

People who have had a mild or moderate allergic reaction are at risk of, and may subsequently present with, suspected anaphylaxis. Certain groups may be at higher risk, either because of an existing comorbidity (for example asthma) or because they are more likely to be exposed to the same allergen again (for example people with venom allergies or reactions to specific food triggers). These groups were not included within the scope of this guideline, which is specific to those who have received emergency treatment for suspected anaphylaxis.

Anaphylaxis may be an allergic response that is immunologically mediated, or a non-immunologically mediated response, or idiopathic. Certain foods, insect venoms, some drugs and latex are common precipitants of immunoglobulin E (IgE)-mediated allergic anaphylaxis. Many drugs can also act through non-allergic mechanisms. A significant proportion of anaphylaxis is classified as idiopathic, in which there are significant clinical effects but no readily

¹ Resuscitation Council (UK) 2008. Emergency treatment of anaphylactic reactions. Guidelines for healthcare providers.

identifiable cause. The relative likelihood of the reaction being allergic, non-allergic or idiopathic varies considerably with age.

Food is a particularly common trigger in children, while medicinal products are much more common triggers in older people. In the UK it is estimated that 500,000 people have had a venom-induced anaphylactic reaction and 220,000 people up to the age of 44 have had a nut-induced anaphylactic reaction².

There is no overall figure for the frequency of anaphylaxis from all causes in the UK. Because anaphylaxis presents mainly in accident and emergency departments and outpatient settings, few estimates of prevalence are available from NHS sources. Anaphylaxis may not be recorded, or may be misdiagnosed as something else, for example, asthma. It may also be recorded by cause, such as food allergy, rather than as an anaphylactic reaction.

Available UK estimates suggest that approximately 1 in 1333 of the population of England has experienced anaphylaxis at some point in their lives³. There are approximately 20 deaths from anaphylaxis reported each year in the UK, with around half the deaths being iatrogenic⁴, although this may be an underestimate.

After an acute anaphylactic reaction, it is believed that many people do not receive optimal management of their condition. One reason for this is healthcare professionals' lack of understanding when making a diagnosis, for example failing to differentiate anaphylaxis from less severe histamine-releasing reactions or from other conditions that mimic some or all of its clinical features. Another reason is a lack of understanding of when or where to refer patients. This can affect the likelihood of the person receiving a

² Ewan PW for the British Society for Allergy and Clinical Immunology (2006) The nature and extent of allergy in the United Kingdom. A report to the Department of Health Review of Allergy Services.

³ Stewart AG, Ewan PW (1996) The incidence, aetiology and management of anaphylaxis presenting to an accident and emergency department. Quarterly Journal of Medicine 89 (11): 859–64

⁴ Pumphrey RS (2000) Lessons for management of anaphylaxis from a study of fatal reactions. Clinical and Experimental Allergy 30(8): 1144–50

definitive diagnosis, which can lead to anxiety, inappropriate management and recurrent reactions. It can also lead to avoidable costs for the NHS and increase the need for acute care.

Drug recommendations

The guideline does not make recommendations on drug dosage; prescribers should refer to the 'British national formulary' for this information. The guideline also assumes that prescribers will use a drug's summary of product characteristics to inform decisions made with individual patients.

Who this guideline is for

This document is for staff in primary, secondary and tertiary settings who care for people with suspected anaphylaxis.

Patient-centred care

This guideline offers best practice advice on the care of adults, young people and children following emergency treatment for suspected anaphylaxis. For the purpose of this guideline all patients under 16 are classed as children. Those aged 16 and 17 are classed as young people and those aged 18 and over as adults.

Treatment and care should take into account patients' needs and preferences. People with suspected anaphylaxis should have the opportunity to make informed decisions about their care and treatment, in partnership with their healthcare professionals. If patients do not have the capacity to make decisions, healthcare professionals should follow the Department of Health's advice on consent (available from <u>www.dh.gov.uk/consent</u>) and the code of practice that accompanies the Mental Capacity Act (summary available from <u>www.dh.gov.uk/en/SocialCare/Deliveringsocialcare/MentalCapacity</u>). In Wales, healthcare professionals should follow advice on consent from the Welsh Government (available from <u>www.wales.nhs.uk/consent</u>).

If the patient is under 16, healthcare professionals should follow the guidelines in 'Seeking consent: working with children' (available from <u>www.dh.gov.uk/consent</u>).

Good communication between healthcare professionals and patients is essential. It should be supported by evidence-based written information tailored to the patient's needs. Treatment and care, and the information patients are given about it, should be culturally appropriate. It should also be accessible to people with additional needs such as physical, sensory or learning disabilities, and to people who do not speak or read English.

Families and carers should be given the information and support they need.

Care of young people in transition between paediatric and adult services should be planned and managed according to the best practice guidance described in 'Transition: getting it right for young people' (available from <u>www.dh.gov.uk</u>).

Adult and paediatric healthcare teams should work jointly to provide assessment and services to young people with suspected anaphylaxis. Diagnosis and management should be reviewed throughout the transition process, and there should be clarity about who is the lead clinician to ensure continuity of care.

1 Recommendations

1.1 List of all recommendations

- 1.1.1 Document the acute clinical features of the suspected anaphylactic reaction (rapidly developing, life-threatening problems involving the airway [pharyngeal or laryngeal oedema] and/or breathing [bronchospasm with tachypnoea] and/or circulation [hypotension and/or tachycardia] and, in most cases, associated skin and mucosal changes).
- 1.1.2 Record the time of onset of the reaction.
- 1.1.3 Record the circumstances immediately before the onset of symptoms to help to identify the possible trigger.
- 1.1.4 After a suspected anaphylactic reaction in adults or young people aged 16 years or older, take timed blood samples for mast cell tryptase testing as follows:
 - a sample as soon as possible after emergency treatment has started
 - a second sample ideally within 1–2 hours (but no later than 4 hours) from the onset of symptoms.
- 1.1.5 After a suspected anaphylactic reaction in children younger than
 16 years, consider taking blood samples for mast cell tryptase
 testing as follows if the cause is thought to be venom-related,
 drug-related or idiopathic:
 - a sample as soon as possible after emergency treatment has started
 - a second sample ideally within 1–2 hours (but no later than 4 hours) from the onset of symptoms.

- 1.1.6 Inform the person (or, as appropriate, their parent and/or carer) that a blood sample may be required at follow-up with the specialist allergy service to measure baseline mast cell tryptase.
- 1.1.7 Adults and young people aged 16 years or older who have had emergency treatment for suspected anaphylaxis should be observed for 6–12 hours from the onset of symptoms, depending on their response to emergency treatment. In people with reactions that are controlled promptly and easily, a shorter observation period may be considered provided that they receive appropriate post-reaction care prior to discharge.
- 1.1.8 Children younger than 16 years who have had emergency treatment for suspected anaphylaxis should be admitted to hospital under the care of a paediatric medical team.
- 1.1.9 After emergency treatment for suspected anaphylaxis, offer people a referral to a specialist allergy service (age-appropriate where possible) consisting of healthcare professionals with the skills and competencies necessary to accurately investigate, diagnose, monitor and provide ongoing management of, and patient education about, suspected anaphylaxis.
- 1.1.10 After emergency treatment for suspected anaphylaxis, offer people (or, as appropriate, their parent and/or carer) an appropriate adrenaline injector as an interim measure before the specialist allergy service appointment.
- 1.1.11 Before discharge a healthcare professional with the appropriate skills and competencies should offer people (or, as appropriate, their parent and/or carer) the following:
 - information about anaphylaxis, including the signs and symptoms of an anaphylactic reaction
 - information about the risk of a biphasic reaction

- information on what to do if an anaphylactic reaction occurs (use the adrenaline injector and call emergency services)
- a demonstration of the correct use of the adrenaline injector and when to use it
- advice about how to avoid the suspected trigger (if known)
- information about the need for referral to a specialist allergy service and the referral process
- information about patient support groups.
- 1.1.12 Each hospital trust providing emergency treatment for suspected anaphylaxis should have separate referral pathways for suspected anaphylaxis in adults (and young people) and children.

	2 Care pathway	
	Emergency treatment for a susp	pected anaphylactic reaction
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
eutica e ul •• ±	Investigation in adults or young people aged 16 years or older ake timed blood samples for mast cell tryptase testing: as soon as possible after emergency treatment ideally within 1–2 hours (but no later than 4 hours) from the onset of symptoms. form the person (or, as appropriate, their parent and/or carer) that blood sample may be required at follow-up with the specialist ergy service to measure baseline mast cell tryptase.	 Investigation in children younger than 16 years Consider taking blood samples for mast cell tryptase testing if the cause is thought to be venom-related, drug-related or idiopathic: as soon as possible after emergency treatment ideally within 1–2 hours (but no later than 4 hours) from the onset of symptoms. Inform the parent and/or carer that a blood sample may be required at follow-up with the specialist allergy service to measure baseline mast cell tryptase.
Jace		
III		•
i Sanitaria Fa	 rapidly developing, life-threatening problems involving the air rapidly developing, life-threatening problems involving the air breathing (bronchospasm with tachypnoea), and/or circulation (hypotension and/or tachycardia), and in most cases, associated skin and mucosal changes. scord the time of onset of the reaction. scord the circumstances immediately before the onset of symptoms. 	rway (pharyngeal or laryngeal oedema), and/or
Dat		
PC Banca	bservation for adults and young people aged 16 years or older oserve people for 6–12 hours from the onset of symptoms, pending on their response to treatment. In patients with reactions at are controlled promptly and easily, a shorter observation period ay be considered provided that they receive appropriate ost-reaction care prior to discharge.	Admission for children younger than 16 years Admit children to hospital under the care of a paediatric medical team.
	I	
N F	Referral efer people to a specialist allergy service (age-appropriate where po ills and competencies necessary to accurately investigate, diagnose itient education about, suspected anaphylaxis. ospital trusts should have separate referral pathways for suspected a	ssible), consisting of healthcare professionals with the e, monitor and provide ongoing management of, and anaphylaxis in adults (and young people) and children.
0	v	
5	Adrenaline inje fer people (or, as appropriate, their parent and/or carer) an appropri ecialist allergy appointment.	ector iate adrenaline injector as an interim measure before the
	↓	↓
	Patient information an Before discharge offer the following: information about anaphylaxis, and the signs at information about the risk of a biphasic reaction information on what to do if an anaphylactic epi call emergency services) a demonstration of the correct use of the adren advice about how to avoid the suspected trigge information about the need for referral and the information about patient support groups.	d support nd symptoms of an anaphylactic reaction isode occurs (use the adrenaline injector and aline injector er (if known) referral process

3 Evidence review and recommendations

A systematic review of clinical effectiveness (sections 3.1.2, 3.2.2, 3.4.2 and 3.5.2) was completed by NICE. For details of how this guideline was developed, see appendix D. A technical assessment report, which comprised of a systematic review of clinical and cost effectiveness with additional health-economic modelling (sections 3.3.2 and 3.3.4) was commissioned by NICE from Kleijnen Systematic Reviews Ltd, based in York, England. For full details of the technical assessment report, see appendices F and G. For the full evidence tables please see appendix E.

3.1 Use and timing of mast cell tryptase testing in the anaphylaxis diagnostic pathway

3.1.1 Review question

Should mast cell tryptase testing be performed in patients with suspected anaphylaxis? If so, what is the optimal timing for testing?

3.1.2 Evidence review

A total of 642 articles were found by systematic searches. Full text was ordered for 67 articles based on the title and abstract. Of these, 17 papers (Brown et al. 2004; Dybendal et al. 2003; Enrique et al. 1999; Fisher and Baldo 1998; Fisher et al. 2009; Kanthawatana et al. 1999; Laroche et al. 1991; Laroche et al. 1992a; Laroche et al. 1992b; Laroche et al. 1998; Malinovsky et al. 2008; Mertes et al. 2003; Ordoqui et al. 1997; Schwartz et al. 1987; Schwartz et al. 1989; Schwartz et al. 1994; Stone et al. 2009) met the eligibility criteria and described the use or timing of mast cell tryptase testing to confirm an anaphylactic reaction.

Studies were included if they evaluated mast cell tryptase testing in adults and children who received emergency treatment for suspected anaphylaxis. Studies were excluded if they measured mast cell tryptase postmortem or baseline serum levels only (for the full review protocol and inclusion and exclusion criteria, see appendix D). The Guideline Development Group (GDG) considered that further exclusion criteria should be applied. Studies that compared mast cell tryptase with other tests (for example skin-prick tests or in-vitro IgE tests) alone, without clinical assessment, were excluded because the results of these tests alone are not sufficient to diagnose anaphylaxis and were therefore inappropriate as reference standards.

The studies that met the eligibility criteria used a range of methods to measure mast cell tryptase. It was noted that most of the included studies on the timing of mast cell tryptase testing employed methods that are not currently used in the UK. However, the GDG's view was that the type of test used does not significantly impact upon an overall assessment of the timing of acute mast cell tryptase release.

Table 1 Studies excluded because the comparator did not includeclinical assessment

Study	Comparison				
Dybendal (2003)	SPT/lgE				
Fisher (1998)	SPT/IgE				
Fisher (2009)	SPT/IgE				
Laroche (1992a)	SPT/IgE				
Abbreviations: IgE, immunoglobulin E; SPT, skin-prick test.					

A total of 13 studies were included in the final review; 4 on the utility of mast cell tryptase testing (Brown et al. 2004; Enrique et al. 1999; Malinovsky et al. 2008; Mertes et al. 2003) and 9 on timing (Kanthawatana et al. 1999; Laroche et al. 1991; Laroche et al. 1992b; Laroche et al. 1998; Ordoqui et al. 1997; Schwartz et al 1987; Schwartz et al. 1989; Schwartz et al. 1994; Stone et al. 2009).

Study ID Test type	Mast cell tryptase threshold	Reference standard	Population	Study type	Experimentally induced or 'natural' presentation	Allergen (if single/ named allergen study)	
Brown (2004)	12.0 µg/l peak	Clinical diagnosis	Adults (assumed)	Cross- sectional	Experimental challenge	Jack jumper ant	
FEIA (UniCAP)	9.0 µg/l peak	Clinical diagnosis		prospective			
	2.0 change	Clinical diagnosis					
Enrique (1999) FEIA	13.50 ng/ml	Clinical criteria + immuno- allergic study	Adults	Cross- sectional prospective	Natural	Various	
(UniCAP)	8.23 ng/ml	Clinical criteria + immuno- allergic study		(assumed)			
Malinovsky (2008) FEIA	12 µg/l	Clinical assessment and immuno- allergic study	Adults and children	Cross- sectional prospective	Natural	Anaesthesia	
(UniCAP)	25 µg/l	Clinical assessment and immuno- allergic study					
	Not reported	Clinical assessment and immuno- allergic study					
Mertes (2003) FEIA (UniCAP)	25 µg/l	Clinical history, skin tests and/or specific IgE assay	Adults (assumed)	Cross- sectional retrospective	Natural	Anaesthesia	

Table 2 Summary of included studies on the use of mast cell tryptase testing in the diagnosis of anaphylaxis

Table 3 Summary of included studies on the timing of mast cell tryptase
testing in the diagnosis of anaphylaxis

Study ID Test type	Population	Study type	Experimentally induced or 'natural' presentation	Allergen (if single/named allergen study)
Kanthawatana (1999) ELISA	Adults	Case series	Natural	Various
Laroche (1991) RIA	Adults	Case-control	Natural	Anaesthesia and other drugs
Laroche (1992b) RIA	Adults (assumed)	Case series	Natural	Drugs (mostly anaesthesia)
Laroche (1998) RIA	Adults	Case-control	Natural	Contrast media
Ordoqui (1997) RIA	Adults (assumed)	Case series	Natural	Drugs
Schwartz (1987) ELISA	Adults (assumed)	Case series	Natural	Various
Schwartz (1989) ELISA	Adults (assumed)	Case series	Bee sting challenge (n = 3) or natural (n = 2)	Various
Schwartz (1994) ELISA	Adults (assumed)	Case-control	Experimental challenge	Venom
Stone (2009) ELISA	Adults and children	Case series	Natural	Various
Abbreviations: E	ELISA, enzyme-lin	ked immunosorb	ent assay; RIA, radioimr	nunoassay.

GRADE (Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation; see appendix D for details of the methods used) was applied to the studies. A diagnostic accuracy study (usually designed as prospective) was initially regarded as high quality, a diagnostic accuracy study (based on usually retrospective data, and not by design) as moderate quality, and any other design as low quality. For the timing studies, all started as low quality (because of the lack of experimental design or attempts to minimise potential bias).

As part of the GRADE process, the GDG considered how results from diagnostic accuracy studies, in the context of anaphylaxis, can be interpreted, and the impact that this would have on the patient, their family and the NHS.

True positives

A correct diagnosis of anaphylaxis means that the person will receive the correct treatment, which will minimise the risk of future reactions.

False positives

A diagnosis of suspected anaphylaxis in a person who did not have an anaphylactic reaction has an impact on their quality of life, increases levels of anxiety, and involves the potential use of unnecessary adrenaline, together with associated risks and costs. Importantly, the true cause of the reaction is not identified or treated.

False negatives

People who have had an anaphylactic reaction but who have a diagnosis that is not considered to be anaphylaxis will not be referred for specialist assessment or management. They are at risk of potentially life-threatening future reactions because the condition is not managed optimally.

True negatives

If a correct diagnosis is not considered to be anaphylaxis, the impact is to reduce anxiety. In addition, there may be wider social implications, for example, a reduction in 'blanket' rules where children are unnecessarily banned from bringing certain foods into school.

The GDG therefore considered that the aim of any test should be to minimise false negatives because of the high risk of further anaphylactic reactions.

Table 4 GRADE profile 1: Use of mast cell tryptase testing in the diagnosis of anaphylaxis compared with clinical assessment

Study characteristics Index and reference tests Q				Qu	Quality assessment					Summary of findings							
Study ID	Study design	Index	Reference	N	Limitations	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Pre- test prob	TP (%)	FP (%)	FN (%)	TN (%)	Sens (95% CI)	Spec (95% CI)	Quality
Mast cell try	ptase low th	reshold at peak															
Enrique (1999)	Cross- sectional	Mast cell tryptase (TH 8.23 ng/ml)	Clinical diagnosis + immunological tests	30	n	sa	sb	sc	n	0.57	13 (43)	1 (3)	4 (13)	12 (40)	76 (50–93)	92 (64–100)	Very
Brown (2004)	Cross- sectional	Mast cell tryptase (TH 9.0 µg/l peak)	Clinical diagnosis alone	I diagnosis 64		3	3	5		0.17	6 (9)	7 (11)	5 (8)	46 (72)	55 (22–83)	87 (75–95)	low
Mast cell try	ptase mediu	m threshold at	peak														
Brown (2004)	Cross- sectional	Mast cell tryptase (TH 12.0 µg/l peak)	Clinical diagnosis alone	64						0.17	4 (6)	6 (9)	7 (11)	47 (73)	36 (11–69)	89 (77–96)	
Enrique (1999)	Cross- sectional	Mast cell tryptase (TH 13.50 ng/ml)	Clinical diagnosis + immunological tests	30	n	s ^a	s ^b	s°	n	0.57	6 (20)	1 (3)	11 (37)	12 (40)	35 (14–62)	92 (64–100)	Very low
Malinovsky (2008)	Cross- sectional	Mast cell tryptase (TH 12 µg/l)	Clinical diagnosis + immunological tests	31						0.71	14 (45)	1 (3)	8 (26)	8 (26)	64 (59–100)	89 (7–93)	



Mast cell try	ptase high tl	hreshold at pea	k														
Malinovsky (2008)	Cross- sectional	Mast cell tryptase (TH 25 µg/l)	Clinical diagnosis + immunological tests	31		a	e ^b	a ^c		0.71	9 (29)	0 (0)	13 (42)	9 (29)	41 (21–64)	100 (66–100)	Very
Mertes (2003)	Cross- sectional	Mast cell tryptase (TH 25 µg/l)	Clinical diagnosis + SPT +/or IgE	259	n	S	S	S	n	0.68	112 (43)	9 (3)	63 (24)	75 (29)	64 (56–71)	89 (81–95)	low
Mast cell try	ptase chang	e from baseline	9														
Brown (2004)	Cross- sectional	Mast cell tryptase (TH 2.0 µg/l change)	Clinical diagnosis alone	64	n	s ^d	s ^b	s ^c	n	0.17	8 (13)	5 (8)	3 (5)	48 (75)	73 (39–94)	91 (79–97)	Very Iow
Mast cell try	ptase thresh	old not defined	1														
Malinovsky (2008)	Cross- sectional	Mast cell tryptase (TH not reported)	Clinical diagnosis + immunological tests	7	n	s ^d	s ^b	n	n	0.60	39 (56)	0 (0)	3 (4)	28 (40)	93 (81–99)	100 (88–100)	Very Iow
^a Results sho ^b Studies eva ^c Confidence ^d Inconsistence	wed some ind luated tests in intervals wer cy was not as	consistency acro n experimentally e wide (downgra ssessable becau	bss studies (downgrade r induced reactions; or v aded one level) use there was only one s	d one le vere sin	evel) Igle a	llerge	n stu	dies s	so may	not be rep	presentat	tive of t	he guic	leline po	opulation (dc	wngraded on	e level)

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; FN, false negative; FP, false positive; n, not serious; prob, probability; s, serious; Sens, sensitivity; Spec, specificity; SPT, skin-prick test; TH, threshold; TN, true negative; TP, true positive.

Table 5 GRADE profile 2: Timing of mast cell tryptase testing in the diagnosis of anaphylaxis

Quality assessme	ent						
No. of studies	Study design	Limitations	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Summary of findings	Quality
Baseline assess	nent of mast cell	tryptase					•
9 Kanthawatana (1999) Laroche (1991) Laroche (1992b) Laroche (1998) Ordoqui (1997) Schwartz (1987) Schwartz (1989) Schwartz (1994) Stone (2009)	Observational	Not reported i	n included studies				Not applicable
Timing of peak m	nast cell tryptase						
7 Kanthawatana (1999) Laroche (1991) Ordoqui (1997) Schwartz (1987) Schwartz (1989) Schwartz (1994) Stone (2009)	Observational	n	s ^a	n	s ^b	Timing of peak levels ranged from 1 minute to 6 hours. Median reported in studies (excluding the biphasic peaks) was 30 minutes. Reported levels varied with median of 24 U/I (range 4.09–66.2). However, one study found no correlation between the timing of onset of symptoms and mast cell tryptase levels.	Very low



Quality assessme	ent						
No. of studies	Study design	Limitations	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Summary of findings	Quality
End-point of elev	ated mast cell try	yptase					•
6 Laroche (1991) Laroche (1992b) Laroche (1998) Ordoqui (1997) Schwartz (1987) Schwartz (1989)	Observational	n	s ^a	n	s ^b	Reported t _{1/2} was median 90 minutes (range 30– 300 minutes). Levels usually returned to normal by 24 hours after onset of symptoms. One study reported normal levels (18 ng/ml) at 6 hours.	Very low
^a Results showed s ^b Results as report Abbreviations: n, n	some inconsistence ed did not allow an ot serious; s, serio	y across studies ny assessment o ous; t _{1/2} , half-life;	s (downgraded one of the level of impre ; U/I, units per litre.	e level) ecision (downgrae	ded one level)	·	
See appendix	E for the evic	dence tables	; U/I, units per litre.				

3.1.3 Evidence statements

For details of how the evidence is graded, see 'The guidelines manual'.

Use of mast cell tryptase testing in the diagnosis of anaphylaxis

3.1.3.1 No evidence on the clinical utility of mast cell tryptase testing in the diagnosis of anaphylaxis in children was identified.

Malinovsky (2008) included 1 child (participants' ages ranged from 8 years to 80 years, with a median of 43 years) within the study. However, data were not provided on the diagnostic accuracy of mast cell tryptase in children.

3.1.3.2 Very low-quality evidence from four observational studies including 384 patients showed that peak mast cell tryptase had a high specificity when compared with clinical assessment (range 87% to 100%, dependent on the threshold used). Sensitivity tended to be lower (range 35% to 93%, dependent on the threshold used).

Brown (2004) measured peak mast cell tryptase after an experimental jack jumper ant venom challenge in patients with a history of anaphylactic reactions, giving a sensitivity of 36% and specificity of 89% (threshold: 12.0 microgram/l). Enrique (1999) measured peak mast cell tryptase in patients presenting with suspected anaphylaxis from a number of causes, giving a sensitivity of 35% and specificity of 92% (threshold: 13.50 nanogram/ml). Malinovsky (2008) measured peak mast cell tryptase in patients presenting with suspected anaphylaxis from anaesthesia, giving a sensitivity of 64% and specificity of 89% (threshold: 12.0 nanogram/ml). Mertes (2003) measured peak mast cell tryptase in patients presenting with suspected anaphylaxis during anaesthesia, giving a sensitivity of 64% and specificity of 89% (threshold: 25 microgram/l).

3.1.3.3 Very low-quality evidence from one observational study of
64 patients showed that change in mast cell tryptase (from baseline to peak) had a sensitivity of 73% and specificity of 91% for the diagnosis of anaphylaxis when compared with a clinical diagnosis.

Brown (2004) evaluated the change from baseline after an experimental jack jumper ant venom challenge.

Timing of mast cell tryptase testing in the diagnosis of anaphylaxis

3.1.3.4 No evidence on the timing of mast cell tryptase testing in the diagnosis of anaphylaxis in children was identified.

Stone (2009) included children (participants' age ranged from 9 years to 99 years, with a median of 36 years); results were not reported separately for children.

- 3.1.3.5 No information on the optimal timing of baseline measurement of mast cell tryptase was identified.
- 3.1.3.6 Very low-quality evidence from seven observational studies including 178 patients showed that the timing of peak levels ranged from 1 minute to 6 hours (median 30 minutes). Reported levels varied with a median of 24 units per litre (range 4.09–66.2).

Laroche (1991), Ordoqui (1997), Schwartz (1989) and Schwartz (1994) assessed the timing of peak mast cell tryptase in anaphylactic reactions to anaesthesia, drugs and venom, while Kanthawatana (1999), Schwartz (1987) and Stone (2009) considered a range of allergens.

3.1.3.7 Very low-quality evidence from six observational studies including
147 patients showed that the half-life of tryptase ranged from
30 minutes to 300 minutes (median 90 minutes). Levels returned to
normal by 24 hours after the onset of symptoms.

Laroche (1991), Laroche (1998), Ordoqui (1997) and Schwartz (1989) assessed the timing of the half-life of mast cell tryptase in anaphylactic reactions to anaesthesia, drugs and contrast media, while Laroche (1992b) and Schwartz (1987) considered a range of allergens.

3.1.4 Health economic modelling

A health economic analysis was not conducted for this question. The cost per patient per test is not straightforward to establish. The only data source

identified was from the University of Birmingham Clinical Immunology service handbook and price list, which quoted £14 (up to 28-day turnover). As the analysis of multiple blood samples may be encompassed in this cost, it appears to be a reasonable estimate with respect to the reference cost for immunology tests; £7 (lowest cost £4, highest £9, based on 2009–10 reference costs for DAP830 Immunology).

This suggests that mast cell tryptase testing represents a modest but nonnegligible cost to the NHS. However, it is currently conducted as part of the management plan during follow-up at specialist allergy clinics. For this reason, the cost of mast cell tryptase testing is assumed to be incorporated in the cost of a visit to a specialist allergy service in the health economic model described in section 3.3.4. Conducting a separate analysis here would run the risk of double-counting.

3.1.5 Evidence to recommendations

Relative value of different outcomes	The GDG agreed that the aim of any test for anaphylaxis should be to minimise false negatives because of the risk of future events. While the evidence on the mast cell tryptase test was inconsistent in the rates of true positives (sensitivity), the rate of false negatives (specificity) was low. As a result of the demonstrated low false negative rate and because the results from mast cell tryptase tests would normally be interpreted by an allergy specialist in conjunction with a clinical assessment, the GDG felt that the use of mast cell tryptase was warranted.
	The evidence suggested a median time of 30 minutes for the peak of mast cell tryptase, but that this could vary between 1 minute and 6 hours. It was noted that the peak had been reached in all but 2 patients within 2 hours. The half-life ranged from 30 minutes to 5 hours (median of 90 minutes). As a result, the GDG agreed that the timing of the first blood sample should be as soon as possible after the onset of symptoms as this would most likely capture the initial rise or peak of mast cell tryptase.
	However, as a result of the variation between individuals the GDG felt that an additional blood sample was needed. The aim of this second blood sample would be to better understand the pattern of tryptase release and breakdown, which would aid the clinical interpretation of the results of the first sample. It was felt that the most appropriate and practical time to take the second sample would be 1–2 hours after the onset of symptoms. Although the evidence showed that the half-life and peak had occurred after 5 or 6 hours in a few cases, the GDG felt that this was atypical. In the GDG's opinion tryptase would have peaked within 4 hours in the majority of cases. As a result they concluded that the second blood sample should not be taken any later than 4 hours after the onset of symptoms.

	As the evidence was predominantly in adults the GDG felt unable to make the same recommendation in children. The GDG's clinical experience suggested that false negatives are much higher in children, possibly as a result of most reactions being triggered by food, which does not always result in mast cell tryptase being elevated. Although there was no direct evidence to support the recommendation in children, the GDG felt that mast cell tryptase measurement was likely to be useful in children who present with idiopathic or suspected venom- or drug-induced anaphylaxis.
	It was also noted by the GDG that some patients had unexplained high levels of mast cell tryptase (for example, in mastocytosis), and therefore in order to interpret the results correctly it was important for a baseline sample to be taken. To aid the interpretation of the results it was agreed that this baseline sample would need to be taken at least 24 hours after the onset of symptoms, probably during specialist follow-up.
Trade-off between clinical benefits and harms	The GDG considered that although the evidence showed that there could be a risk of false positives with mast cell tryptase measurement (as the sensitivity of the tests reported in the studies varied considerably), this was an acceptable risk as the results would be interpreted by a specialist in conjunction with a clinical assessment.
Economic considerations	The recommendation should result in the test being conducted early (at emergency units) with a cost-neutral impact to the NHS, and an increased utility to the patient.
Quality of evidence	In addition to the very low quality of the evidence, the studies included a mixed population with a variety of causes of anaphylaxis and this could affect the study results (for example, suspected anaphylaxis in anaesthesia could be caused by technical anaesthetic or surgical problems).
Other considerations	Despite the very low quality evidence in diverse populations, the GDG considered mast cell tryptase testing to be justified in aiding specialist assessment. The pattern of mast cell tryptase levels after anaphylaxis is consistent with the GDG's clinical experience so the GDG also considered the use of the repeated mast cell tryptase measurements to be justified.

3.1.6 Recommendations and research recommendations for the use and timing of mast cell tryptase testing in the anaphylaxis diagnostic pathway

Recommendations

Recommendation 1.1.4

After a suspected anaphylactic reaction in adults or young people aged 16 years or older, take timed blood samples for mast cell tryptase testing as follows:

- a sample as soon as possible after emergency treatment has started
- a second sample ideally within 1–2 hours (but no later than 4 hours) from the onset of symptoms.

Recommendation 1.1.5

After a suspected anaphylactic reaction in children younger than 16 years, consider taking blood samples for mast cell tryptase testing as follows if the cause is thought to be venom-related, drug-related or idiopathic:

- a sample as soon as possible after emergency treatment has started
- a second sample ideally within 1–2 hours (but no later than 4 hours) from the onset of symptoms.

Recommendation 1.1.6

Inform the person (or, as appropriate, their parent and/or carer) that a blood sample may be required at follow-up with the specialist allergy service to measure baseline mast cell tryptase.

Research recommendations

See appendix B for full details of research recommendations.

Research recommendation B1

Aside from mast cell tryptase, which other chemical inflammatory mediators offer potential as indicators of anaphylaxis?

3.2 Duration of observation after a suspected anaphylactic reaction

3.2.1 Review question

Should people be observed after an anaphylactic reaction? And if so, for how long?

3.2.2 Evidence review

A total of 1096 articles were found by systematic searches. Full text was ordered for 73 articles based on the title and abstract. Of these, no studies assessed the effectiveness of observation or the length of time that any observation period should last (for the full review protocol and inclusion and exclusion criteria, see appendix D).

As a result of the lack of any relevant studies, 15 studies (Brady et al. 1996; Brazil et al. 1998; De Swert et al. 2008; Douglas et al. 1994; Ellis et al. 2007; Järvinen et al. 2009; Jirapongsananuruk et al. 2007; Lee et al. 2000; Mehr et al. 2009; Poachanukoon et al. 2006; Sampson et al. 1992; Scranton et al. 2009; Smit et al. 2005; Stark et al. 1986; Yang et al. 2008) on the rates and timing of biphasic reactions in those treated for a suspected anaphylactic reaction were considered as 'indirect' evidence and were presented to the GDG. Biphasic reactions were defined as those reactions that occurred following resolution of the index reaction symptoms, but without further exposure to the suspected allergen. It was not possible to use GRADE to evaluate the quality of the studies because the evidence considered did not fit the GRADE framework of the original specified question (that is, studies comparing observation with no observation or varying times for observation). However, the overall low quality of the 'indirect' evidence was presented to the GDG to inform their discussions.

The GDG used the 'indirect' studies to prompt discussion on whether individuals should be observed following a suspected anaphylactic reaction and, if so, how long that period of observation should last. The recommendations were therefore based on the expertise, knowledge and experience of the GDG.

Table 6 Summary of study characteristics ('indirect' evidence)

Study ID	Study setting	Adults/children	N	Gender	Experimentally induced or 'natural' presentation	Allergen (if single/named allergen study)
Prospective studies						
De Swert (2008) Belgium Case series	Paediatric outpatient allergy clinic and two private practices (one in paediatrics and another in paediatric allergy) (includes some referrals)	Children (mean and median 6.9 y, 6 m to 14.8 y)	48	65% (31) male 35% (17) female	Natural	Various
Ellis (2007) Canada Cohort	Both outpatient (ED records) and inpatients	Both (mean 33 y, 11 m to 79 y)	134 (follow-up available for 103)	54% (56) male 47% (48) female	Natural	Various
Scranton (2009) USA Cohort	Patients treated with immunotherapy	Both (mean 33 y, 6 y to 76 y)	55	35% (19) male 65% (36) female	After immunotherapy	Immunotherapy (aeroallergen or venom)
Stark (1986) USA Cohort	Consecutive patients treated by one hospital's internal medicine house staff	Adult (mean 41.8 y,17 y to 71 y)	25	28% (7) male 72% (18) female	Mostly natural (one anti-venom)	Various
Retrospective studies						
Brady (1996) USA Case series	Out-of-hospital, ED, hospital records	Adults (mean age 30.2 y) (not clear if children included)	67	51% (34) male 49% (33) female	Natural	Various
Brazil (1998) UK Case series	Admitted patients at short-stay ward in A&E	Adults (16–81 y)	34	56% (19) male 44% (15) female	Natural	Various
Douglas (1994) USA Case series	Both outpatient and inpatient (reported separately)	Both (outpatient mean 36 y, 7 y to 69 y; inpatient mean 35 y, 6 m to 81 y)	94 (35 outpatient, 59 inpatient)	Outpatient: 34% (12) male, 66% (23) female Inpatient: 71% (42) male, 29% (17) female	Natural	Various



Study ID	Study setting	Adults/children	N	Gender	Experimentally induced or 'natural' presentation	Allergen (if single/named allergen study)
Järvinen (2009) USA Case series	Patients tested with oral food challenge at hospital	Children (median 6 y, 1.25 y to 18 y)	50	60% (30) male 40% (20) female	Oral food challenge	Various foods
Jirapongsananuruk (2007) Thailand Case series	Inpatients	Both (mean 24 y, 2.8 m to 81.3 y)	101	52% (53) male 48% (48) female	Most natural (some immunotherapy)	Various
Lee (2000) USA Case series	Inpatients	Children (median 8 y, 6 m to 21 y)	106	61% (66) male 39% (42) female	Natural	Various
Mehr (2009) Australia Case series	Presenting at the ED and admitted into hospital for > 6 h	Children (median 2.5 y, 0.2 y to 18.8 y)	104	60% (62) male 40% (42) female	Natural	Various
Poachanukoon (2006) Thailand Case series	Outpatient (ED records)	Both (median 26 y, 1 m to 65 y)	64	53% (34) male 47% (30) female	Natural	Various
Sampson (1992) USA Cross-sectional	Various	Children (mean 12 y, 2 y to 17 y)	13	23% (3) male 77% (10) female	Natural	Food
Smit (2005) Hong Kong Case series	Patients presenting to ED resuscitation room	Both (median 28 y, 1 y to 91 y)	282	59% (167) male 41% (115) female	Natural	Various
Yang (2008) Korea Case series	Inpatients and outpatients at one centre	Both (mean 40 y, 5 y to 76 y)	138	54% (74) male 46% (64) female	Natural	Various
Abbreviations: A&E, acc	ident and emergency; ED, emergen	cy department; h, hour(s); m	, month(s); y, year(s).			



Of the LD	Anaphylaxis definition	Rate biphasic	Characteristics of biphasic reaction	Length of follow-up	Time of occurrenc	Other	
Study ID					Mean/median	Range	results/comments
Prospecti	ve studies						
De Swert (2008)	Serious reaction with rapid onset of symptoms and/or involving two organ systems	3% (2/64)	Not clear	Not described	Not reported	30 min or 4 h after symptom resolution	Not reported
Ellis (2007)	Serious reaction with rapid onset of symptoms and/or involving two organ systems	19% (20/103)	Had to meet same definition as index reaction	Patients contacted 72 h after ED visit (mean ED observation time: 3.8 h)	10 (mean) after original reaction (unclear if from index reaction or symptom resolution)	2 to 38	40% (8) occurred more than 10 h later; 20% (4) occurred after 20 h (most within 22 h, but one at 38 h)
Scranton (2009)	Life-threatening (not otherwise described); assessed on 31-symptom score for five body systems (+ requiring adrenaline)	23% (14/60)	Any reaction (same scoring system used)	In-hospital: 1 to 2 h after last dose of adrenaline After discharge: patients contacted after 24 hours	5.5 (median) (unclear if from index reaction or symptom resolution)	2 to 24	Not reported
Stark (1986)	Based on two criteria (but both IgE and non-IgE- mediated)	20% (5/25)	Not clear	Observation for 12 h, or (if symptoms persisted beyond 12 h) until the reaction ceased, or until death	Not reported	Between 1 and 8 after symptom resolution of index reaction	Not reported
Retrospec	ctive studies						
Brady (1996)	Multi-system reaction involving ≥ two organ systems	3% (2/67)	Urticaria (but still went to and treated at ED)	Biphasic: 4 h to 7 h, 14 with uniphasic reactions that were admitted: mean 63 h Others: not reported	Not reported	26 and 40 after ED visit (not clear if from start of initial visit or after discharge)	Second reaction was relatively minor
Brazil (1998)	One or more system involved	18% (6/34)	Symptoms requiring adrenaline	Not described	Not reported	4.5 to 29.5 interval until development of biphasic reaction (unclear exactly when interval starts, that is, index reaction or symptom resolution)	All but one occurred within 24 h

Table 7 Summary of study results ('indirect' evidence)



O(Anaphylaxis definition	Rate biphasic	Characteristics of biphasic reaction	Length of follow-up	Time of occurrent	Other	
Study ID					Mean/median	Range	results/comments
Douglas (1994)	One or more system involved	5% (2/44) (outpatient) 7% (4/59) (inpatient)	Three had only urticaria, one only angioedema and rhinitis, one tongue swelling and wheezing only	Outpatient: contact by nurse within 12 h to 24 h Inpatient: not described	Outpatient: 22 to 24 Inpatient: 1, 24, 24	4 and 6 to 8 and 72	Not reported
Järvinen (2009)	Multi-system reaction involving ≥ two organ systems	2% (1/50)	Not clear	Not described	1	Not reported	Not reported
Jirapong sananur uk (2007)	One symptom of generalised mediator release and one system affected.	7% (4/54) of children 2% (1/47) of adults	Not clear	Not described	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported
Lee (2000)	Acute reaction involving at least two body systems	6% (6/105)	Worsening of symptoms after index symptom resolution requiring new therapy	When significant reaction (requiring oxygen, vasopressors, intubation, subcutaneous adrenaline, unscheduled bronchodilator treatments), observed for 24 h (otherwise, not described)	Not reported	1.3 to 28.4 after symptom resolution of index reaction	All but one had occurred within 12 h
Mehr (2009)	Multi-system reaction involving respiratory/CV system and another organ system	5% (5/109)	Same	Not described	8.8 (median) from onset of index reaction	1.3 to 20.5	Not reported
Poachan ukoon (2006)	One symptom of generalised mediator release and one system affected	15% (8/52)	Not clear	Not described	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported
Sampson (1992)	Only near-fatal or fatal cases included	Not reported	Not clear	Not described	Not reported	1 to 2	Not reported

Study ID	Anaphylaxis definition	Rate biphasic	Characteristics of biphasic reaction	Length of follow-up	Time of occurrenc	Other	
					Mean/median	Range	results/comments
Smit (2005)	Both IgE-mediated and non-IgE-mediated systematic immune response	5% (15/282)	Any reaction occurring after symptom resolution	Median 10.6 h spent in observation ward (kept in ED observation ward if expected to be discharged within 12 to 24 h but follow-up protocol length not described)	8 (mean) from treatment of index reaction	1 to 23	Nine occurred more than 8 h after initial presentation and six of these 8 h after initial treatment
Yang (2008)	One of a number of criteria (including reduced blood pressure alone)	2% (3/138)	Not clear	Not described	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported
Abbreviations: CV, cardiovascular; ED, emergency department; h, hour(s); IgE, immunoglobulin E.							

See appendix E for the evidence tables in full.

3.2.3 Evidence statements

For details of how the evidence is graded, see 'The guidelines manual'.

- 3.2.3.1 No evidence on the effectiveness of observing people after a suspected anaphylactic reaction was identified.
- 3.2.3.2 No evidence on for how long people should be observed after a suspected anaphylactic reaction was identified.

3.2.4 Health economic modelling

This question was not considered an economic priority, due to lack of evidence. The GDG felt that, because the recommendation did not represent a major departure from current common practice, the likely cost impact could be assumed to be relatively small. It is acknowledged that health economic modelling could potentially provide a useful exploration of the trade-offs between cost, benefit and safety in this area. However, such an analysis would only become possible on the basis of substantial additional evidence. If data such as those specified in the research recommendations (see section 3.1.6) become available in future, consideration should be given to conducting economic evaluation of this question in any update of this guideline.

3.2.5 Evidence to recommendations

Relative value of	The GDG agreed that biphasic reactions are a concern. The
different outcomes	GDG noted that the rates reported in some of the studies were
	higher, in their experience, than those within the UK, but the
	reason for this was unclear. Some of the variation may have
	been due to incorrect reporting or differing criteria being applied
	to the biphasic reaction. However, because there is a risk of a
	biphasic reaction in those treated for suspected anaphylaxis the
	GDG agreed that some period of observation is necessary.
	The GDG considered the mixed evidence on whether specific patients are at risk of a biphasic reaction. The studies were
	relatively small and often inconsistent in demonstrating whether
	particular factors predicted a biphasic reaction. It was therefore
	difficult to recommend that particular groups be observed for
	longer. However, the GDG agreed that there was some
	evidence to suggest that the intensity of the treatment needed
	to address the index reaction might be predictive of a biphasic
	reaction.
	While not conclusive, the GDG felt that these factors should be
	taken into consideration when deciding for how long to observe
	a patient. It was felt that shorter observation periods could be

	warranted in those who seek and respond quickly to treatment.
	The GDG noted that the timing of the biphasic reactions varied greatly across the studies, with some reactions occurring more than 20 hours after the initial reaction. The GDG agreed that in their experience 8 hours would be likely to capture around 60% of cases. While taking into account the factors above, the GDG decided that patients should be observed over a period of 6– 12 hours. This would capture the majority of biphasic reactions but still allow the clinician some flexibility for those patients in whom reactions were controlled promptly and easily. The GDG noted that this period of observation was not a distinct period of time, but would run alongside other activities, such as recovery from the initial treatment and the delivery of patient education prior to discharge.
	The GDG agreed that children (those younger than 16 years) should be treated differently to young people (aged 16 years or older) and adults. For many children and their parents and/or carers a suspected anaphylactic reaction is a traumatic experience and will raise many different issues. The GDG felt that it was important for children and their parents or carers to receive the appropriate care (for example, paediatric assessment, counselling, education) following emergency treatment. Therefore they decided that all children should be admitted to hospital following emergency treatment, to be cared for by a paediatric medical team.
Trade-off between clinical benefits and harms	Although there is a risk associated with discharging some patients early, the GDG felt that, due to the costs associated with observation and a reduction in the risk of a biphasic reaction as time went on, it was not feasible to recommend that all patients be observed for a period of days.
Economic considerations	Although no formal analysis was undertaken, the GDG was aware that timely discharge would minimise unnecessary resource use. The available data were considered insufficient to enable formal economic analysis of the question.
Quality of evidence	No direct evidence was identified. The GDG used 'indirect' studies to prompt discussion. The overall low quality of the 'indirect' evidence was noted by the GDG during their discussions.
Other considerations	It was acknowledged by the GDG that the recommendations were based, to large extent, on their expertise, knowledge and experience.

3.2.6 Recommendations and research recommendations for duration of observation after a suspected anaphylactic reaction

Recommendations

Recommendation 1.1.7

Adults and young people aged 16 years or older who have had emergency treatment for suspected anaphylaxis should be observed for 6–12 hours from the onset of symptoms, depending on their response to emergency treatment. In patients with reactions that are controlled promptly and easily, a shorter observation period may be considered provided that they receive appropriate post-reaction care prior to discharge.

Recommendation 1.1.8

Children younger than 16 years who have had emergency treatment for suspected anaphylaxis should be admitted to hospital under the care of a paediatric medical team.

Research recommendations

See appendix B for full details of research recommendations.

Research recommendation B2

What are the frequency, timing, severity and predictors of biphasic reactions in people who have received emergency treatment for anaphylaxis?

Research recommendation B3

For how long should a person who has received emergency treatment for anaphylaxis be observed?
3.3 Assessment and the decision to refer after a suspected anaphylactic reaction

3.3.1 Review questions

a) What should be part of the review after a reaction to confirm a diagnosis of anaphylaxis and to guide referral?

b) Who should be referred, when, and to where or whom?

c) Who should be given an emergency treatment plan and when should that include an adrenaline injector?

3.3.2 Evidence review

A total of 11,058 articles were found by systematic searches. After the screening of titles and abstracts, 107 references were excluded. A total of 97 papers were obtained and the full texts screened. However, 10 papers considered to be eligible for inclusion could not be retrieved from the British Library. A total of 5 studies were included (for a full list of included and excluded studies, see appendix G).

Studies were considered relevant if they assessed the risk of recurrence, or if they included clinical assessment, provision of adrenaline injectors, or information on when referral should occur in those who have received emergency treatment for a suspected anaphylactic reaction.

a) What should be part of the review after a reaction to confirm a diagnosis of anaphylaxis and to guide referral?

No evidence was found that answered this review question. The recommendations were therefore based on the expertise, knowledge and experience of the GDG.

b) Who should be referred, when, and to where or whom?

Five studies addressed the area of 'Who is at high risk of recurrent anaphylactic reactions, and for whom would further anaphylactic reactions have a significant impact?' (Cianferoni 2004; Decker 2008; Mehl 2005; Múgica Garcia 2010; Mullins 2003).

It was not possible to use GRADE to evaluate the quality of the studies as none of the studies matched the GRADE framework. The studies were reviewed and the quality established. The main themes from the evidence were extracted and presented to the GDG in the form of summary tables (see tables 8 and 9).

Table 8 Summar	y of included	studies: risk o	f recurrent	anaphylactic	reactions
----------------	---------------	-----------------	-------------	--------------	-----------

Study	Study type	Study quality	Outcome measures	Length of follow-up	Source of funding
Cianferoni (2004)	Observational retrospective	Low risk of bias but unclear how patients were selected.	Recurrence defined as the presence of another anaphylactic reaction: at least 2 of the main indicators of anaphylactic reaction (hypotension, inspiratory dyspnoea, and urticaria-angioedema) within 2 hours after exposure to one of the most probable causative agents.	7 y (SD 1 y, range 5– 8.6 y)	N/R
			dermatitis, current urticaria/angioedema, history to sensitivity to 1 food allergen.		
Decker (2008)	Observational prospective	Low risk of bias but no definition of recurrence given.	No details provided.	Mean 1.1 y (range 7 d -13 y)	N/R
Mehl (2005)	Observational retrospective	Medium risk of bias as no definition of recurrence was given. Role of funding source unclear.	Questionnaire covering demographic data, symptoms and physical findings of the reaction, place of occurrence, suspected allergen, diagnostic tests, treatment modalities such as use of drugs, route of application, and drug administering person, hospitalisation and prescribed emergency set after the reaction.	1 y (patients identified over a period of 12 m retrospectively)	Industry: InfectoPharm Arzneimittel und Consilium GmbH, Heppenheim, Germany ('financial support')
Múgica Garcia (2010)	Observational retrospective	Medium risk of bias as only 58.7% of previous cohort was included and no details on age, gender, weight and ethnicity were reported.	Recurrence defined as any new reaction of anaphylaxis, irrespective of the cause of the first reaction and whether the recurrence was the same or different. The recurrence of the same subtype of anaphylaxis was considered when the same subtype of anaphylaxis (e.g. food, drugs, exercise) was responsible for both the first reaction and for the recurrence.	N/R	N/R
Mullins (2003)	Observational prospective	Low risk of bias but no definition of recurrence given.	Recurrence presented as proportion of patients relapsing. Rate of recurrence/100 patient-years of observation: calculated by dividing the cumulative length of observation by the number of recurrences involving that trigger.	2.2 у	N/R
Abbreviations: d	, day(s); m, month(s); N/R, not reported; SD, star	trigger. dard deviation; y, year(s).		



Study	No. of patients	Patient characteristics	Results
Cianferoni (2004) Setting: primary care, Italy	46 (of 76 from a previous cohort study, re-evaluated after a mean of 7 years) Inclusion for previous study: patients with anaphylaxis referred to an allergy unit (Florence, Italy) who had at least 2 of the main indicators of anaphylactic reaction (hypotension, inspiratory dyspnoea, and urticaria-angioedema) within 2 hours after exposure to one of the most probable causative agents.	Diagnosed anaphylaxis. Mean age 14 y (SD 4.92, range 7–26 y). Age at first reaction: 5.8 y (SD 4.9, 1–18 y). 61% male. No details on weight and ethnicity. Aetiology: food 19.5% (9/46), exercise 4.4% (2/46), drug 2.2% (1/46), idiopathic 4.4% (2/46).	Risk of recurrence: 30% (14/46)
Decker (2008) Setting: primary care USA	211 (visiting an emergency department). Diagnosed anaphylaxis criteria from the National Institutes of Health/Food and Allergy and Anaphylaxis network.	Mean age: 29.3 years (SD 18.2). 44.1% male. No further details.	Second event in 45/211 (21.3%). Median time of presentation: 395 days (range 7 d–13 y). Third event in 11/211 (5.2%). Risk of recurrence higher in women (relative risk 2.14, 95% confidence interval 1.17 to 3.9). No difference in age (p = 0.535) or race (p = 0.743) for a subsequent event.
Mehl (2005) Setting: primary care Germany	 103 children (< 12 y) Inclusion: reported accidental anaphylactic reactions occurring during 12 months in infants and children below 12 years of age. Reports reviewed individually by two paediatric allergologists. Exclusion: reported cases excluded if the reported reaction was not accidental (e.g. occurred after diagnostic provocation) or if the patient was not under the age of 12. 	Median age 5 y (range 3 m to 12 y). 58% male. No details on weight and ethnicity. Causative allergen was known or strongly suspected in 95/103 (92%) of all patients. Overall: food 57% (59/103), insect sting 13% (13/103), SIT 12% (12/103), medication 6% (6/103), other 4% (4/103), unknown 8% (9/103). Foods only: 57% (59/103): peanut 20% (12/59), tree nut 20% (12/59), cow's milk 14% (8/59), fish 14% (8/59), hen's egg 7% (4/59), other 25% (15/59)	Recurrence: overall 27% (28/103), food-related 71% (20/28), insect sting 7% (2/28), SIT 7% (2/28), unknown 14.3% (4/28). Same allergen as reaction(s) in medical history: 50% (14/28). 'No significant difference was found for allergens looking only at severe reactions (grades III and IV)' (no data reported). Age differences: Food, 'patients significantly younger than the overall group' (mean 3.9 y, SD 3). SIT, 'significantly older' (mean 9.8 y, SD 1.9). Venom, 'patients significantly older' (mean 7.6 y, SD 3.2).
Múgica Garcia	933 (original cohort of 1590). Presented	Diagnosed anaphylaxis. Mainly urban community.	Overall risk 325/933 (34.8%).

Table 9 Findings of included studies: risk of recurrent anaphylactic reactions

Study	No. of patients	Patient characteristics	Results
(2010)	with anaphylaxis and were followed in	No details on age, gender, weight and ethnicity.	Same type as first reaction: latex 72.7%, food
Setting: primary	allergy unit (no further details).		38.8%, hymenoptera venom: 33.3%, unknown:
care			32.9 %
Spain			
Mullins (2003)	432 patients referred for evaluation of	Mean age 27.4 y (SD 19.5, range: 1–82).	130/304 (42.8%) have experienced 386 reactions of
Setting: primary	possible anaphylaxis to community- based specialist medical practice between February 1995 and July 2000.	48% male.	recurrent symptoms (median 2, range 0–18).
care		2000 No details on weight and ethnicity.	Risk of overall recurrence: 57/100 patient-years.
Australia		First reaction during study course: 71%.	Risk of severe recurrence: 10/100 patient-years.
		First reaction before study: 29%.	Non-serious recurrences: 19.7 (85/432); had adrenaline: 1.2% (1/85).
			Serious recurrences: 10.4% (45/432); had adrenaline: 40% (18/45). No deaths.
			Risk factors for recurrence: exercise and idiopathic cause, female gender.
Abbreviations: d, day	v(s); m, month(s); SD, standard deviation; S	SIT, specific immunotherapy; y, year(s).	

See appendix E for the evidence tables in full.



c) Who should be given an emergency treatment plan and when should that include an adrenaline injector?

No evidence was found that answered this review question. The recommendations were therefore based on the expertise, knowledge and experience of the GDG.

3.3.3 Evidence statements

For details of how the evidence is graded, see 'The guidelines manual'.

a) What should be part of the review after a reaction to confirm a diagnosis of anaphylaxis and to guide referral?

3.3.3.1 No evidence was found on what should be part of the review after a reaction to confirm a suspected anaphylactic reaction and to guide referral.

b) Who should be referred, when, and to where or whom?

3.3.3.2 Evidence from two low-quality and three medium-quality observational studies of varying periods of follow-up, with a total of 1597 patients, showed that between 21% and 43% of patients who had an anaphylactic reaction experienced a recurrent reaction.

Cianferoni (2004) reported 14 recurrent reactions in a population of 46 (30%). Decker (2008) reported 45 cases in a population of 211 patients (27%), Mehl (2005) 28 cases in 103 patients (35%), Múgica Garcia (2010) 325 cases in 933 patients (34.8%), and Mullins (2003) 130 cases in 304 patients (43%).

- 3.3.3.3 Medium-quality evidence from one observational study, with a total of 304 patients of whom 130 had a recurrent reaction, indicated a median of two recurrent reactions per person, with a range of 0 to 18.
- 3.3.3.4 Evidence from two medium-quality studies suggested that women were at higher risk of recurrent reactions than men.

Decker (2008) reported a relative risk of recurrence in women of 2.14 (95% confidence interval [CI] 1.17 to 3.9). Mullins (2003) stated that women were at higher risk of recurrence than men; no figures were provided.

- 3.3.3.5 Evidence from one medium-quality (p = 0.535) and one low-quality observational study found that age was not associated with an increased risk of recurrence.
- 3.3.3.6 One medium quality observational study of 211 patients found that ethnicity was not associated with an increased risk of recurrence (p = 0.743).
- 3.3.3.7 Evidence from two low-quality observational studies found that a range of allergens was proposed as the cause of the recurrent reaction. In addition, in 33% to 72% of cases the recurrent reaction was likely to be due to the same allergen that caused the first anaphylactic reaction.

Mehl (2007) found food to be the cause in 71% of cases, insect sting in 7% of cases and specific immunotherapy in 7%, with an unknown trigger in 14% of cases. Múgica Garcia (2010) found that where the same allergen was the cause of the recurrent reaction that the following allergens were believed to be the cause: latex in 73% of cases, food in 39%, hymenoptera venom in 33% and an unknown trigger in 33%.

c) Who should be given an emergency treatment plan and when should that include an adrenaline injector?

3.3.3.8 No evidence was found on who should be given an adrenaline injector pending the referral appointment.

3.3.4 Health economic modelling

Referral to specialist allergy clinics (review question 3b) and the provision of adrenaline injectors (review question 3c) were identified as the highest economic priorities by the GDG. This was because of the high variation in practice and uncertain cost implications in these key areas. To address these issues, a health economic analysis was conducted by Kleijnen Systematic Reviews. Review question 3a was not considered to be a priority for health economic modelling.

The decision problems for the health economic analysis were:

- the cost effectiveness of referral to a specialist allergy service for definitive diagnosis of anaphylaxis and long-term management
- the cost effectiveness of adrenaline injectors for the treatment of anaphylaxis including the cost implications of training in their use.

No directly relevant cost-effectiveness papers were identified in the assessment group's literature search, so a new cost-effectiveness analysis was conducted. A Markov model was developed to incorporate short-term and long-term outcomes.

Methods

Both decision problems were addressed using a single model. This was deemed appropriate because the questions focused on similar outcome measures – that is, the costs and effects of the interventions in the prevention and/or management of recurrent anaphylactic reactions. As a result, the model simulated four comparators:

- referral to specialist allergy service with adrenaline injectors
- referral to specialist allergy service without adrenaline injectors
- standard care with adrenaline injectors, and
- standard care without adrenaline injectors.

The model comprised four states representing people at risk of recurrence, people experiencing a recurrence, people whose condition had remitted and death. A schematic diagram of the model structure is shown in figure 1.



Figure 1 Schematic diagram of economic model

The population examined comprised people who had received emergency treatment for suspected anaphylaxis. In its base case, the model assumed an adult population (mean starting age of 30); an additional analysis simulated a paediatric setting (mean starting age of 5).

The modelled population was stratified according to four triggers of anaphylaxis: drugs, food, insect stings/venom and idiopathic. Standard care constitutes GP consultation only with no referral to allergy specialist services. The GDG agreed that this was a reflection of current practice.

The model was run over a lifetime horizon. Shorter time horizons were investigated in sensitivity analyses. A cycle length of 3 months was chosen as a period during which multiple recurrences were unlikely. The model's sensitivity to parameter uncertainty was explored in deterministic (one-way and threshold) and probabilistic sensitivity analyses.

Model assumptions

Model methods are discussed in detail in appendix F. Key assumptions included the following.

- There are four mutually exclusive triggers of anaphylaxis: drug, food, insect/venom and idiopathic.
- Standard care comprises referral to a GP after anaphylaxis and no further investigation or treatment.
- Treatment in a specialist allergy service comprises:
 - GP costs as included in standard care
 - two initial appointments with a consultant-led specialist team, at which the diagnosis is confirmed, advice is given on avoidance of the trigger (if there is one) and, in the specialist allergy service with adrenaline injectors strategy, information is provided about the correct use of adrenaline injectors
 - for people with food-related anaphylaxis, follow-up appointments once every 2 years
 - for people with venom-related anaphylaxis, treatment with venom immunotherapy is possible (60% of people choose to undergo treatment; 20% of these drop out before completion)
 - for people with idiopathic anaphylaxis, 50% receive drug therapy for 2–
 3 months, but no additional follow-up appointments
 - for people with drug-related anaphylaxis, no additional follow-up.
- Recurrence rates are dependent on the trigger.
- When compared with people receiving standard care, people receiving specialist allergy service benefit from:
 - reduced incidence of recurrence, as a result of effective avoidance advice and/or immunotherapy
 - higher probability of successful adrenaline injector use, reflecting personalised instruction in how and when to use the injectors

- higher quality of life (utility), as a result of reduced anxiety and symptoms in a well-managed condition.
- When compared with people without adrenaline injectors, people receiving adrenaline injectors benefit from:
 - reduced risk of mortality
 - higher quality of life (utility), as a result of reduced anxiety about the potential impact of a recurrence.
- Adrenaline injectors, if used successfully, would be used within 4.6– 9.9 minutes of exposure to the trigger, and would prevent all deaths that would occur in the absence of adrenaline injectors. Deaths that occur within 4.5 minutes of exposure are not prevented, whether people are carrying adrenaline injectors or not.
- For people with idiopathic anaphylaxis, spontaneous remission is possible.
- Except where influenced by remission or treatment, the probability of recurrence remains constant throughout a person's life.
- The cost of recurrence relates to hospital admission only that is, no additional follow-up costs are included.

Model parameters

The probability of trigger varied between adults and children. Values are summarised in table 10. Assumed recurrence rates, according to trigger type and treatment allocation, are summarised in table 11.

The effect of adrenaline injectors in reducing mortality was calculated based on data concerning time from trigger exposure to death, and estimates of emergency ambulance response times, drawn from published literature. The implication here is that timely and correct use of adrenaline injectors would prevent deaths that might occur before emergency services arrive. Key inputs are presented in table 12; see appendix F for full details.

The likelihood of mortality from causes other than anaphylaxis was modelled using age- and gender-specific mortality drawn from Office for National Statistics 2011 life-tables for England and Wales. Health-related quality of life was estimated using general population utility data, adjusted by a decrement reflecting ongoing risk of recurrence. It was assumed that the reassurance and symptom control provided by a specialist allergy service would reduce this utility decrement, as would the provision of adrenaline injectors.

Full details of model parameters, their sources and the ranges across which they were varied in probabilistic sensitivity analysis are provided in appendix F.

Trigger	Proportion of population with specified trigger
Drugs	Adults 44.1%; children 12.4%
Food	Adults 12.5%; children 44.2%
Venom	13.4%
Idiopathic	30.0%

Table 10 Probabilities of trigger assumed in economic model

Table 11 Annual recurrence rates assumed in economic model

Trigger	Annual rate of recurrence per patient (range used in probabilistic model)				
	Under standard care	Under specialist service			
Drugs	0.12 (0.05–0.19)	0.001 (0–0.002)			
Food	0.11 (0.05–0.16)	0.01 (0–0.02)			
Venom	0.1 (0.05–0.15)	0.1 (0.05–0.15) ^a			
Idiopathic		0.28 (0.05–0.51) ^b			
^a Under specialist service, the rate of recurrence decreases over time, in reflection of successful immunotherapy					

^b No difference between standard care and specialist service

Table 12	Additional	key	parameters	in	economic	model
----------	------------	-----	------------	----	----------	-------

Parameter	Value
Probability of dying from an anaphylactic reaction given current provision of emergency services and adrenaline injector use	0.57%
Probability of dying from an anaphylactic reaction given current provision of emergency services and no adrenaline injector use	0.84%
Probability of dying from an anaphylactic reaction given current provision of emergency services and successful adrenaline injector use	0.03%
Probability of correct injector use with SC in children	66.7%
Probability of correct injector use with SC in adults	42.6%
Probability of correct injector use with SS (children and adults)	90.0%
Utility decrement associated with ongoing susceptibility to anaphylaxis	0.08
Days' quality of life lost per recurrence	5
Cost of adrenaline injectors	£26.45
Cost of inpatient treatment per recurrence	£469.88
Cost of SS appointments (consultant-led multidisciplinary team)	
- initial appointment (adults)	£321
 follow-up appointments (adults) 	£450
- initial appointment (children)	£266
- follow-up appointments (children)	£234
Number of adrenaline injectors provided per year (assumes two devices to be available at any one time with a shelf-life of 12 months each)	4
Abbreviations: SC, standard care; SS, specialist service.	

Results

Base-case results – clinical outcomes

The model predicts that, over a lifetime, the number of recurrences experienced is strongly influenced by both trigger and treatment allocation (figure 2). Under standard care, people whose initial anaphylactic reaction was due to drugs, food or venom are expected to experience 5–6 further reactions in their lives. Under specialist allergy service, those figures are substantially reduced: the model predicts that less than 1-in-2 people with food-related anaphylaxis will experience a recurrence at any stage, and the incidence of drug-related recurrences is almost eradicated. For people with venom-related anaphylaxis, recurrence rates are approximately halved, to around 2.5 lifetime reactions per person; this reduction is due to the simulated effects of immunotherapy (the effect is less than that seen in food and drugrelated anaphylaxis because trigger avoidance is impractical in this aetiology). The incidence of idiopathic recurrences is similar across all strategies, and substantially lower than that seen for other triggers; this is because the model assumes an ongoing rate of spontaneous remission in this group of people, so the number at risk of recurrence diminishes as time goes on. The differences between strategies with adrenaline injectors and those without are minimal; it should be clear that injector use does not, in itself, prevent recurrences, though it may mitigate their consequences.



Figure 2 Recurrence rates predicted in the economic model

A similar pattern was seen with the predicted rate of anaphylaxis-related deaths (figure 3). The model predicts that, with standard care without adrenaline injectors, 6–8% of people with food, drug or venom-related anaphylaxis will die as a consequence of a recurrence. For people with food-and drug-related anaphylaxis, those figures drop to less than 1% with specialist allergy service; however, for the reasons discussed above, people with venom-related anaphylaxis experience a less marked reduction in mortality. The effect of adrenaline injectors can also be seen in figure 3: the

risk of death from recurrence is 10% to 30% lower in people with injectors than in those without.





Table 13 shows the model's predicted mortality rates in terms of number needed to treat to prevent one death from recurrent anaphylaxis. It can be seen that, other than in people with idiopathic anaphylaxis, for whom the efficacy of the modelled interventions appears relatively slight, the effect of specialist allergy service appears to be substantial. When compared with standard care, specialist allergy service strategies are predicted to result in one fewer death per 22–25 people treated across the whole population. The effect of adrenaline injectors is less marked: under specialist allergy service, a little over 500 people would have to receive injectors to prevent one death from recurrence whereas, under standard care, the equivalent figure is approximately 200. The effect is especially small with drug-related anaphylaxis under specialist allergy service. This is because specialist allergy service is assumed to remove the risk of drug-related anaphylaxis almost entirely; therefore, the opportunity for injectors to have a life-saving effect is very slight.

SS plus Al versus			SS no Al versus	SC plus Al versus		
inggei	SS no Al	SC plus Al	SC no Al	SC plus Al	SC no Al	SC no Al
Drug	7879	16	14	16	14	166
Food	877	15	14	15	14	155
Venom	155	30	25	37	30	161
Idiopathic	343	409	253	-2104 ^a	960	659
Average ^b	516	24	22	25	23	210

Table 13 Economic model prediction – number needed to treat to prevent one death from recurrent anaphylaxis

^a Negative number needed to treat implies number needed to harm – the number of people who would need to be treated with specialist allergy service without adrenaline injectors before one additional death would be expected compared with mortality under standard care with adrenaline injectors

^b Weighted according to relative prevalence of trigger types in model

Abbreviations: AI, adrenaline injector; SC, standard care; SS, specialist service.

Base-case results: cost-utility

In its base case, the economic model suggests that strategies including specialist allergy service are likely to be preferred to those based on standard care alone, and those strategies with adrenaline injectors are likely to be preferred to those without.

When compared with standard care without adrenaline injectors, specialist allergy service without adrenaline injectors is associated with health gains of around one quality-adjusted life year (QALY) per person at an average cost of approximately £760, resulting in an incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) of around £750 per QALY gained. Assuming conventional thresholds per QALY, this would reflect excellent value for money. Standard care with adrenaline injectors is dominated by (that is, more expensive and less effective than) specialist allergy service without adrenaline injectors, so would not be considered a viable option in an incremental analysis. Specialist allergy service with adrenaline injectors at an additional lifetime cost of around £925, resulting in an ICER of approximately £1800 per QALY gained. Once more, this would be considered to be a low ICER in the context of conventional thresholds. Therefore, if the modelled strategies are considered mutually exclusive

treatment options, specialist allergy service with adrenaline injectors is likely to be chosen as the most cost-effective approach.

The comparison between standard care without adrenaline injectors and standard care with adrenaline injectors may also be relevant when considering whether adrenaline injectors should be prescribed to people following emergency treatment for suspected anaphylaxis but before they have been seen by a specialist team (review question 3c). The model suggests that, as in the specialist allergy service setting, providing adrenaline injectors results in QALY gains of around 0.5 per person at an additional lifetime cost of around £900, resulting in an ICER of approximately £1650 per QALY gained. Again, this is likely to be considered good value for money.

Deterministic and probabilistic base-case results are presented in table 14. The deterministic and probabilistic results are very similar, indicating that the expected costs and QALYs are close to a linear function of the parameter values.

	Cost	Effoct	Increment	al	
Strategy	(£)	(QALYs)	Cost (£)	Effect (QALYs)	ICER (£ per QALY)
Deterministic	;				
SC no Al	978.26	39.25			
SS no Al	1745.19	40.25	766.93	1.00	763.45
SC plus Al	1875.83	39.79	130.64	-0.46	(Dominated)
SS plus AI	2668.59	40.76	923.40	0.51	1808.13
Probabilistic	(mean)				
SC no Al	981.13	39.22			
SS no Al	1744.40	40.25	763.27	1.03	742.01
SC plus Al	1879.96	39.76	135.56	-0.48	(Dominated)
SS plus AI	2668.52	40.76	924.12	0.51	1819.82
Abbreviations: Al adjusted life year	, adrenaline inje ; SC, standard o	ctor; ICER, incre are; SS, speciali	mental cost-effe	ectiveness ratio; (QALY, quality-

Table 14 Deterministic and probabilistic base-case results (adults at age 30)

The cost-effectiveness acceptability curve (figure 4) shows that specialist allergy service with adrenaline injectors has the greatest probability of being the most cost-effective option, unless the threshold is assumed to be lower than approximately £2000 per QALY gained, in which case specialist allergy service without adrenaline injectors would be the optimal choice.



Figure 4 Cost-effectiveness acceptability curve

Results in children

A similar pattern of results was seen when the analysis was repeated for children with a mean age of 5. When compared with standard care, strategies including specialist allergy service generate health gains of nearly 2 QALYs per person at relatively small cost, so they would be likely to be preferred. Similarly, in strategies with adrenaline injectors, small additional costs are offset by QALY gains of around 0.8–0.9 per person, resulting in low ICERs. Results are tabulated in table 15.

	Cost Effect (£) (QALYs)		Incremental			
Strategy			Cost (£)	Effect (QALYs)	ICER (£ per QALY)	
SC no Al	1137.78	61.05				
SC plus Al	2551.18	61.96	1413.40	0.91	1548.69	
SS no Al	3049.38	62.96	498.20	1.00	498.66	
SS plus Al	4501.53	63.74	1452.15	0.78	1850.46	
Abbreviations: AI, adrenaline injector; ICER, incremental cost-effectiveness ratio; QALY, quality- adjusted life year: SC, standard care: SS, specialist service						

Table 15 Deterministic results for children at age 5

Scenario analysis

Because no evidence was available to underpin the assumption that specialist services and adrenaline injectors attenuate the health-related quality of life (HRQoL) decrement associated with susceptibility to anaphylaxis, a scenario analysis was performed in which these benefits were removed. Cost-utility results are shown in table 16.

	Cost	Effoct	Incremental			
Strategy	(£)	(QALYs)	Cost (£)	Effect (QALYs)	ICER (£ per QALY)	
Adults (mean age 30)						
SC no Al	978.26	39.25				
SS no Al	1745.19	39.79	766.93	0.55	1398.99	
SC plus AI	1875.83	39.35	130.64	-0.44	(Dominated)	
SS plus Al	2668.59	39.85	923.40	0.05	17,175.35	
Children (me	an age 5)					
SC no Al	1137.78	61.05				
SC plus AI	2551.18	61.32	1413.40	0.28	5123.38	
SS no Al	3049.38	62.29	498.20	0.97	514.44	
SS plus Al	4501.53	62.41	1452.15	0.12	12,610.76	
Abbreviations: Al	, adrenaline inje	ctor; ICER, incre	mental cost-effec	tiveness ratio; Q	ALY, quality-	

Table 16 Scenario analysis – deterministic results assuming specialist services and adrenaline injectors confer no ongoing utility benefit

adjusted life year; SC, standard care; SS, specialist service.

In these analyses, the value of specialist services, when compared with standard-care strategies, remains clear. Although QALY gains are

approximately halved, compared with the base-case analysis, ICERs remain relatively low, suggesting good value for money. Results for adrenaline injectors are affected to a greater degree; this shows that the QALY gains predicted in the base case are predominantly ascribable to the assumed reduction in anxiety and consequent improvement in day-to-day HRQoL. However, a small QALY benefit remains, reflecting the effect of adrenaline injectors in reducing mortality, and this would normally be considered sufficient to outweigh the costs entailed in their use (assuming a threshold of £20,000 per QALY or more).

The base-case model effectively assumes that all simulated individuals have been correctly diagnosed as experiencing anaphylaxis and, hence, are at risk of future recurrence. This may be unrealistic, so a second scenario analysis was performed in which a proportion of people were assumed to have received a false-positive diagnosis of anaphylaxis. For these people, the costs of specialist services and/or adrenaline injectors were incurred, but the probability of recurrence was set to zero, thereby removing the potential for benefit in reduced risk of mortality. The results of this scenario differed only slightly from those generated in the base case, as the day-to-day benefit of specialist services and/or adrenaline injectors was assumed to persist in people who were not, in fact, at risk of recurrence. When this benefit was removed, as in the scenario above, the impact of false-positive diagnoses was greater; however ICERs remained less than £20,000 per QALY where the rate of misdiagnosis was 20% or less.

Sensitivity analysis – threshold analyses

Threshold analysis was conducted on all parameters, with the assumed value of each varied over a broad range to identify the level at which cost-effectiveness conclusions would be altered, assuming a conventional threshold of £20,000 per QALY. These analyses suggested that specialist allergy service with adrenaline injectors remains the most cost-effective option, with few exceptions:

 standard care with adrenaline injectors would become the most cost-effective option if:

- the rate of recurrence in drug-related anaphylaxis for people under standard care exceeded 0.09 per year (base case: 0.001)
- the rate of recurrence in food-related anaphylaxis for people under standard care exceeded 0.35 per year (base case: 0.01)
- specialist allergy service without adrenaline injectors would become the most cost-effective option if:
 - the probability of dying with a successfully used injector exceeds 0.03 (base case 0.000252)
 - the cost per injector exceeds £146 each (base case: £26.45)
 - injectors are associated with a utility gain of less than 3% when compared with strategies without injectors (base case: 25%)

Therefore, the model was considered robust to univariate sensitivity analysis except at relatively extreme values of a few parameters. Analysis of the model's time horizon indicated that specialist allergy service with adrenaline injectors becomes less likely to be cost effective as the time horizon becomes shorter. However, the key ICERs remain under £20,000 per QALY for analyses in which the time horizon is 3 years or more (for adults) or 2 years or more (for children).

Interpretation and limitations

The model suggests that the interventions examined – referral to specialist allergy service and the use of adrenaline injectors – provide health gains at relatively low costs. Therefore, strategies that incorporate these interventions appear to be an effective use of NHS resources.

Referral to a specialist allergy service was predicted to be associated with substantially increased life expectation and improved quality of life at negligible additional cost. Similarly, evidence from the comparison of standard care without adrenaline injectors with standard care with adrenaline injectors suggests that good value for money can be expected from providing adrenaline injectors to people who have had a suspected anaphylactic reaction (as an interim measure before they are seen by a specialist service). This was the case even though the model assumed that the probability of correct injector use was relatively low in such people when compared with the

probability of successful use when they go on to receive training from a specialist service. Moreover, sensitivity analyses in which the time horizon was shortened demonstrated that the ICER remained very low even when the period of interest was restricted to the minimum that could be simulated in the model. This suggests that short-term gains for adrenaline injectors are predicted to be sufficient to justify their cost in the period pending a specialist appointment.

It should be acknowledged that several critical parameters were based on GDG opinion in the absence of relevant published data. In particular, the effectiveness of the interventions in reducing recurrence and increasing quality of life was largely reliant on expert opinion. Nevertheless, model results appeared robust to parameter uncertainty: variations in inputs produced different results only when relatively implausible values were adopted. To examine the model's sensitivity to these important assumptions further, an additional sensitivity analysis was performed, in which all recurrence rates for people under the care of specialist services were varied simultaneously. This analysis suggested that the recurrence rates assumed for strategies including specialist services would have to be at least 6–8 times greater before standard care would be judged to provide better value for money. A related two-way sensitivity analysis varying recurrence rates with and without specialist services was also performed. It showed that standard care would be preferred only if recurrence rates with specialist services were four times too low in the base-case model and recurrence rates under standard care were four times too high. In combination, these analyses suggest that model results are valid unless the base-case recurrence rates are very poor estimates of the true values.

Similarly, GDG opinion was used to determine the likely effect of specialist services and adrenaline injectors in attenuating the HRQoL decrement associated with susceptibility to anaphylaxis. When this assumed benefit was entirely removed, the cost effectiveness of both specialist services and adrenaline injectors was reduced; however, ICERs for each option remained within the range normally considered to represent effective use of NHS resources. This conservative analysis provides reassurance that model results are not solely dependent on the assumed day-to-day HRQoL benefit.

An additional multiway sensitivity analysis showed that, when no ongoing HRQoL benefit is assumed, recurrence rates under specialist services would have to be at least four times higher than their base-case values for standard care to become the preferred option (assuming a threshold of £20,000 per QALY).

Another limitation of this analysis is that it effectively assumes that the resources to provide specialist allergy services are immediately available. In reality, there are likely to be additional set-up costs associated with establishing the necessary additional capacity, which the economic model does not capture. GDG opinion suggested that such costs would relate predominantly to the training of clinicians, as little specialist equipment is necessary to provide the service. To explore this issue, a sensitivity analysis was performed in which an additional cost was associated with each modelled individual's first specialist appointment. This analysis suggested that strategies including specialist services remain associated with ICERs lower than £20,000 per QALY unless this additional cost exceeds £15,000. Therefore, set-up costs would only make a qualitative difference to findings if they can be assumed to exceed an equivalent of £15,000 for each patient who would benefit from the service over the lifetime of the resource.

It may be argued that, by treating standard care and specialist services as mutually exclusive, the model provides an unrealistic representation of current clinical reality, in which a small number of specialist services already see a proportion of people who have experienced suspected anaphylaxis. Given that such people find their way to specialist services, it theoretically may not be necessary to recommend routine referral. However, the economic model does not support this view. For example, if might be assumed that, in current practice, people will be referred to specialists following their first recurrence (second reaction) of anaphylaxis. The recurrence rates assumed in the model suggest that, under standard care, people experience approximately one recurrence per 10 years, so it can be estimated that people are referred to specialists, on average, around 10 years after their initial anaphylaxis. The fact that the model suggests specialist services provide an effective use of NHS resources when the time horizon is constrained to 2–3 years may therefore be seen as evidence that additional benefit is gained following a strategy of routine referral long before the average person would have reached specialist services by an informal route.

There is uncertainty over the true shelf-life of adrenaline injectors in practice, because it is based on time from manufacture, rather than time from prescription. As a result, the expiry date of any dispensed device depends on factors that vary between individual suppliers and pharmacies. For this reason, the model conservatively assumed that each device would have a lifetime of 12 months, even though they are manufactured with shelf-lives of up to 24 months. If this assumption leads to an overestimate of the frequency with which injectors need replacing, the ICERs for strategies including adrenaline injectors may be somewhat too high. However, sensitivity analyses demonstrated that assumptions around resource use associated with injectors do not have a major influence on model outputs, so results are not materially affected by any inaccuracy.

The model's assumption that specialist services do not limit the incidence of recurrence in idiopathic anaphylaxis may also produce conservative ICERs. The costs of drug therapy in a proportion of cases are incorporated in the model, but the effects are uncertain. It is possible, therefore, that the benefits due to specialist service in people with idiopathic anaphylaxis are underestimated.

These results must also be considered in the context of substantial structural uncertainty. Without direct evidence as to the costs and effects of the interventions being simulated, it was necessary for the model to rely on a range of assumptions that are difficult to verify. For example, many assumptions and several sources of data were required in order to estimate the effect that adrenaline injectors have in attenuating mortality risk due to recurrent anaphylaxis. It is possible that, were empirical data to become

available in this and other areas, a different model structure would become possible and a different cost-utility picture might emerge.

It should also be emphasised that the costs and effects of healthcare programmes that seek to minimise the incidence of recurrent anaphylaxis are difficult to distinguish from the costs and effects of the management of chronic allergy (which is beyond the scope of this guideline). For example, it is possible that the economic analysis underestimates the benefits attributable to routine follow-up in specialist services by limiting its focus to a single outcome (anaphylactic reactions).

3.3.5 Evidence to recommendations

Review question: What should be part of the review after a reaction to confirm the diagnosis and guide referral?

Relative value of different outcomes	The GDG discussed current clinical practice when performing a review, such as patient history of comorbidities and previous allergen exposures.		
	It was agreed that the aim of the clinical review after a suspected anaphylactic reaction is to rule out other potential diagnoses and to help identify the possible trigger before the person is seen by a specialist allergy service.		
	It is important for the clinician to record the key signs and symptoms of the suspected anaphylactic reaction so that the post-emergency care treatment provided is appropriate.		
	The GDG also agreed that the review should collect data on the timing of the onset of symptoms so that timed blood samples for mast cell tryptase testing can be taken appropriately.		
Trade-off between clinical benefits and harms	The GDG considered that although there is an increased risk of anxiety from an incorrect diagnosis, this is acceptable because the clinical benefits would significantly outweigh the small risk of anxiety.		
Economic considerations	Not applicable.		
Quality of evidence	No evidence was identified.		
Other considerations	It was acknowledged by the GDG that due to the lack of evidence, the recommendations were based on their expertise, knowledge and experience alone.		
	The GDG noted that in order for these recommendations to be implemented appropriately, a clinical understanding of anaphylaxis and associated comorbidities is required by the clinician conducting the review.		

Review question: Who should be referred, when and to where or whom?

Relative value of different outcomes	The GDG discussed the evidence, which showed a high rate of recurrence of anaphylactic reactions. The GDG therefore felt that referral to a specialist allergy service was warranted to help prevent further anaphylactic reactions.
	The GDG considered the mixed evidence that suggested women are at a higher risk of recurrent anaphylactic reactions than men. However, it was felt that a large proportion of men still suffer from recurrent reactions and that decisions on whether or not to refer should not be based on gender alone.
	The GDG noted that the evidence did not provide a clear picture as to whether susceptibility to specific allergens put people more at risk of a recurrent reaction. It was agreed that the final diagnosis of the causative agent should be carried out by a specialist.
	Therefore the GDG agreed that there is a need to refer all patients to a specialist allergy service, to help prevent the recurrence of anaphylaxis and reduce anxiety following emergency treatment. To ensure that the referral is made, the GDG agreed that the person should be referred prior to discharge. It was acknowledged that effective communication of the necessary information between the different parts of the NHS is important in ensuring optimum care. However, the GDG was of the opinion that in the main this is standard practice within the NHS.
Trade-off between clinical benefits and harms	The GDG considered that although there is an increased risk of anxiety from unnecessary referral, this is acceptable because the clinical benefits would significantly outweigh the small risk of anxiety.
Economic considerations	The health economic analysis indicates that identifying specific allergy trigger(s) and the resultant reduction in rates of recurrence of anaphylaxis, along with the ongoing HRQoL benefit associated with reduced anxiety, is of value to the NHS. The analysis was robust to extreme variation in cost and effects. Therefore, referring all people who have had treatment for suspected anaphylaxis to specialist allergy services would be cost effective.
Quality of evidence	Low to medium quality evidence with conflicting results was identified. The recommendations were based on GDG consensus.
Other considerations	The GDG could not identify subgroups of people who should not be referred because of the risk of missing people who are potentially at high risk of recurrence.

Review question: Who should be given an emergency treatment plan and when should that include an adrenaline injector?

Relative value of	The GDG agreed the importance of quickly treating any
different outcomes	subsequent reactions while the person is waiting to be seen by
	the allergy service. The GDG stated that the aim of offering an

	adrenaline injector is to prevent adverse outcomes from subsequent anaphylactic reactions.
Trade-off between clinical benefits and harms	The GDG considered that there is a risk of harm associated with the improper use of the adrenaline injector, such as the failure to administer adrenaline appropriately. The GDG took into account the high rate of recurrence of anaphylaxis and the time constraints of referral to specialist allergy services. The GDG concluded that the risk of harm was offset by the considerable benefits of preventing adverse outcomes from a recurrent anaphylactic reaction.
	In addition it was felt that the risk of a person using an adrenaline injector inappropriately could be reduced if adequate training on when to use the injector and a demonstration on how to use it were provided prior to discharge. It was felt that this would be sufficient as an interim measure before the specialist allergy appointment.
	It was acknowledged that some people, for example those with cardiac problems, could have adverse events as a result of using an adrenaline injector. However, the GDG felt that the prescription of an adrenaline injector in these cases should be at the discretion of the clinician in question.
	The GDG acknowledged that there are issues relating to the appropriate prescription of adrenaline injectors for children, specifically around the doses required. Although it was not within the remit of the guideline to comment upon the required dose, the GDG felt it necessary to highlight within the recommendations that an appropriate adrenaline injector should be prescribed.
Economic considerations	The health economic analysis indicates that the routine provision of adrenaline injectors is of value to the NHS, primarily because it is expected to reduce the risk of death from recurrent anaphylaxis. The value of this reduction is sufficient to justify the cost implications of providing the devices and training people to use them. Thus, providing adrenaline injectors as an interim measure for people who have had treatment for suspected anaphylaxis is considered to be a cost-effective practice.
Quality of evidence	No evidence was identified.
Other considerations	It was acknowledged by the GDG that due to the lack of evidence, the recommendations were based on their expertise, knowledge and experience alone.
	The GDG was unable to state the exact number of adrenaline injectors to be prescribed per person because this would depend on various individual factors. Instead any decision should be taken by the clinician in question.

3.3.6 Recommendations and research recommendations for assessment after a suspected anaphylactic reaction

Recommendations

Recommendation 1.1.1

Document the acute clinical features of the suspected anaphylactic reaction (rapidly developing, life-threatening problems involving the airway [pharyngeal or laryngeal oedema] and/or breathing [bronchospasm with tachypnoea] and/or circulation [hypotension and/or tachycardia] and, in most cases, associated skin and mucosal changes).

Recommendation 1.1.2

Record the time of onset of the reaction.

Recommendation 1.1.3

Record the circumstances immediately before the onset of symptoms to help to identify the possible trigger.

Recommendation 1.1.9

After emergency treatment for suspected anaphylaxis, offer people a referral to a specialist allergy service (age-appropriate where possible) consisting of healthcare professionals with the skills and competencies necessary to accurately investigate, diagnose, monitor and provide ongoing management of, and patient education about, suspected anaphylaxis.

Recommendation 1.1.10

After emergency treatment for suspected anaphylaxis, offer people (or, as appropriate, their parent and/or carer) an appropriate adrenaline injector as an interim measure before the specialist allergy service appointment.

Research recommendations

See appendix B for full details of the research recommendations.

Research recommendation B4

What is the annual incidence of anaphylaxis and its related outcomes within the UK?

3.4 Patient information after a suspected anaphylactic reaction

3.4.1 Review question

What information do people need after an anaphylactic reaction, and before referral?

3.4.2 Evidence review

A total of 2659 articles were found by systematic searches. After the screening of titles and abstracts, 2648 references were excluded. A total of 11 papers were obtained and the full texts screened. A total of 4 studies were included (for a full list of included and excluded studies, see appendix D).

Studies were considered relevant if they included any types of patient information for adults, children, young people and their parents/carers following a suspected anaphylactic reaction and before referral to a specialist allergy service. The studies were reviewed and the quality established. The main themes from the evidence were extracted and presented to the GDG in the form of a summary table (see table 16).

			Key themes			
Study	Study type	Study quality	Avoidance advice	General anaphylaxis education	Use of adrenaline injectors	Details of follow-up
Kastner (2010)	Systematic review investigating gaps in anaphylaxis management	Moderate	Patients lacked knowledge of trigger avoidance.	Patients identified gaps in following an anaphylaxis management plan.	Patients lacked knowledge of using adrenaline injectors.	Follow-up was not identified as a key theme.
Simons (2011)	Summary of World Allergy Organisation guidelines	Moderate	Clinicians should provide personalised written instructions about avoiding the confirmed trigger, including various alternative names, for example casein for milk.	Advise patients they are at increased risk of future anaphylactic reactions. Advise patients that they have experienced a potentially life-threatening medical emergency. Provide an anaphylaxis emergency action plan that helps them to recognise anaphylaxis symptoms	Patients should be taught why, when and how to inject adrenaline.	Advise patients that they require a follow-up by an allergy/immunology specialist.
Danica (2008)	Opinion piece	Very low	Provide information on prevention strategies.	Healthcare professionals should educate patients on symptoms of anaphylaxis.	Patients should be taught how to use adrenaline injectors.	Follow-up was not identified as a key theme.
Lieberman (2007)	Opinion piece	Very low	Provide advice on avoiding trigger.	Advise patients there is a risk of recurrence.	Patients should be provided with instructions on the use of adrenaline injectors and when to use them.	Advise the patient that they require a follow-up with an allergy specialist.

Table 16 Summary of included studies

See appendix E for the evidence tables in full.

3.4.3 Evidence statements

For details of how the evidence is graded, see 'The guidelines manual'.

- 3.4.3.1 Evidence from two moderate-quality and two very low-quality studies suggested that before discharge patients with suspected anaphylaxis should be provided with advice on avoiding the suspected trigger(s) and on how and when to use an adrenaline injector.
- 3.4.3.2 Evidence from two moderate-quality and two very low-quality studies suggested that before discharge patients with suspected anaphylaxis should be given general education on anaphylaxis (signs, symptoms and severity).
- 3.4.3.3 Evidence from two moderate-quality and two very low-quality studies suggested that patients with suspected anaphylaxis should be given a written anaphylaxis emergency action plan or personalised written instructions on avoidance before discharge.
- 3.4.3.4 Evidence from one moderate-quality and one very low-quality study suggested that patients with suspected anaphylaxis should be provided with information about follow-up with an allergy service before discharge.

3.4.4 Health economic modelling

A health economic analysis was not conducted for this question.

3.4.5 Evidence to recommendations

Relative value of	The GDG considered the evidence on patient information for
different outcomes	people who have emergency treatment for suspected
	anaphylaxis. The GDG discussed the importance of training
	patients in the correct use of an adrenaline injector because
	The GDG also discussed their experience of patients sustaining needle stick injuries as further support for proper training. The group agreed the importance of advising patients about when to use the adrenaline injector, including how to recognise the
	signs and symptoms of a biphasic reaction or a further anaphylactic reaction, and to call emergency services as soon as the adrenaline has been administered.
	The GDG discussed the importance of educating patients about anaphylaxis, including providing information about patient support groups and the importance of being referred to a specialist allergy service. The GDG considered that if the patient was aware of the importance of a correct follow-up it could reduce anxiety and lead to a correct diagnosis. The GDG agreed that patients should be advised to avoid the suspected trigger (if known); however they considered that detailed information relating to management plans or avoidance strategies should be provided in a specialist setting where allergy specialists are trained in providing management plans.
Trade-off between clinical benefits and harms	Not applicable.
Economic considerations	Not applicable.
Quality of evidence	Evidence was used from a variety of sources: two moderate-quality studies (World Allergy Organisation summary and a systematic review of patient knowledge) and two very low-quality studies (opinion pieces).
Other considerations	The GDG noted that clinical expertise of anaphylactic reactions is required when implementing these recommendations, especially when training people in the use of adrenaline injectors.

3.4.6 Recommendations and research recommendations for patient information

Recommendations

Recommendation 1.1.11

Before discharge a healthcare professional with the appropriate skills and competencies should offer people (or, as appropriate, their parent and/or carer) the following:

- information about anaphylaxis, including the signs and symptoms of an anaphylactic reaction
- information about the risk of a biphasic reaction
- information on what to do if an anaphylactic reaction occurs (use the adrenaline injector and call emergency services)
- a demonstration of the correct use of the adrenaline injector and when to use it
- advice about how to avoid the suspected trigger (if known)
- information about the need for referral to a specialist allergy service and the referral process
- information about patient support groups.

Research recommendations

No research recommendations have been made for this question. See appendix B for full details of the research recommendations.

3.5 Models of care for the diagnosis of anaphylaxis

3.5.1 Review question

What model or organisation of care should be adopted to improve the diagnosis of anaphylaxis post-reaction?

3.5.2 Evidence review

A total of 3494 articles were found by systematic searches. Full text was ordered for 14 articles based on the title and abstract. References cited in the 2006 review commissioned by the Department of Health on interventions and services available for the treatment and diagnosis of allergies (Lockwood et al. 2006) and in the 2010 update of the Joint Task Force on Practice Parameters diagnosis and management of anaphylaxis guidelines (Lieberman et al. 2010) were also checked; a further two articles were ordered.

No studies met the eligibility criteria evaluating different models of care in the diagnosis of anaphylaxis (for the full review protocol and inclusion and exclusion criteria, see appendix C). Because of the lack of any relevant studies, five studies were considered as 'indirect' evidence, and were presented to the GDG. These included one systematic review (Kastner et al. 2010), one retrospective record review (Krøigaard et al. 2005), two referral guidelines (Sweetman et al. 2006, Waserman et al. 2010) and one narrative review (Zeiger and Schatz 2000).

The GDG used the 'indirect' studies to prompt discussion of current practice and variation. The recommendations were therefore based on the expertise of the GDG and their knowledge of current national guidance for allergy services.

Author (year)	Study design	Outcomes
Kastner (2010)	Systematic review	No specific recommendations on referral, but a general call for the development of interventional strategies and practice tools to address the knowledge and practice gaps in order to improve care.
Krøigaard (2005)	Retrospective record review	36/48 (75%) grade III and III+ reactions had a 'suggested' potential allergen; 25% had no suggested allergen.
		Overall, for all grades of reaction, of the 49/67 (73%) where a suggested cause was made, 31/67 (46%) had no allergen confirmed and 18/67 (27%) had other allergens found.
		5/67 (7%) had a complete match between the suggested allergen and the investigation result.
		13/67 (19%) had a partial match (because of additional allergens either suggested and not confirmed or confirmed but not suggested).
Sweetman (2006)	Referral guidelines	The following patients should be referred to an allergist-immunologist:
		 Individuals with a severe allergic reaction (anaphylaxis) without an obvious or previously defined trigger. (After a severe allergic reaction without a known cause, a trigger should be identified if at all possible. An allergist-immunologist is the most appropriate medical professional to perform this evaluation, which might include skin testing, in vitro tests, and challenges when indicated [including with exercise, see below]. Major triggers for anaphylaxis are foods and food constituents, medications and biological agents, latex, and insect stings. Future avoidance of the identified triggers should prevent subsequent anaphylactic reactions.
		Management of idiopathic anaphylaxis by an allergist–immunologist is associated with a reduction in hospitalisations and emergency department visits.)
		People with anaphylaxis attributed to food. (Food allergy is the most common cause of anaphylaxis outside the hospital setting. Allergist–immunologists use diagnostic modalities to confirm the trigger and use their specific training and clinical experience to educate patients regarding avoidance and immediate management to prevent potentially deadly outcomes.)
		People with exercise-induced anaphylaxis and food-dependent exercise-induced anaphylaxis. (After an anaphylactic reaction that appears to have a significant relationship to exercise, it is crucial to be certain whether exercise is the cause and to determine

Table 17 Summary of studies ('indirect' evidence)



		whether a food might be involved.)
		People with drug-induced anaphylaxis. (Allergist–immunologists use diagnostic agents to confirm the drug responsible for the reaction, if these agents are available.)
		Based on non-randomised controlled intervention studies, observational, cohort or case–controlled studies, and review articles or expert opinion.
Waserman et al. (2010)	Referral guidelines	Referral to an allergist:
		After acute anaphylaxis patients should be assessed for future risk of anaphylaxis.
		Include anybody who has any rapid onset systemic allergic reaction (gastrointestinal, respiratory, cardiac) or diffuse hives to any food or stings.
		Include anybody who has any rapid onset (minutes to hours) reaction of any severity to higher risk food such as peanuts, tree nuts, shellfish, sesame.
		If uncertain, refer patient to allergist for evaluation.
		Based on expert committee reports or opinions or clinical experience of respected authorities or both; or extrapolated from higher categories of evidence.
Zeiger and Schatz (2000)	Narrative review	Defined the allergist as 'the specialist called on to identify the cause of an anaphylactic reaction, to determine potential preventive measures, and to evaluate the patient who may need to receive a substance to which he or she has reacted previously.'

See appendix E for the evidence tables in full.


3.5.3 Evidence statements

For details of how the evidence is graded, see 'The guidelines manual'.

3.5.3.1 No evidence on the effectiveness of different models of care in the diagnosis of suspected anaphylaxis was identified.

3.5.4 Health economic modelling

This was not considered to be a health economic question.

3.5.5 Evidence to recommendations

Relative value of different outcomes	The GDG considered it important that there should be a defined referral pathway in place with the aim of preventing future reactions. As a result of their different needs, these pathways should be developed separately for children and for young people and adults.		
	Where possible individuals should be referred to an age-appropriate service. However, in many instances the gap in provision will be for children. In these cases it is better for a child to be seen by an adult specialist allergist service than by a general paediatric team.		
	Any referral needs to be to a service capable of confirming the anaphylactic reaction, identifying the cause of the reaction and developing an initial management plan.		
Trade-off between clinical benefits and harms	The GDG considered that there were no potential harms from referring people to a specialist service.		
Economic considerations	Not applicable		
Quality of evidence	No evidence was identified.		
Other considerations	The recommendations were based on the clinical expertise and experience of the GDG, who considered the recommendations to be accepted best practice.		

3.5.6 Recommendations and research recommendations for models of care for the diagnosis of anaphylaxis

Recommendations

Recommendation 1.1.12

Each hospital trust providing emergency treatment for suspected anaphylaxis should have separate referral pathways for suspected anaphylaxis in adults (and young people) and children.

Research recommendations

See appendix B for full details of the research recommendations.

Research recommendation B5

For people who have experienced suspected anaphylaxis, what is the effect on health-related quality of life of (a) referral to specialist allergy services and (b) provision of adrenaline injectors, when compared with emergency treatment alone?

4 Notes on the scope of the guideline

NICE guidelines are developed in accordance with a scope that defines what the guideline will and will not cover. The scope of this guideline is given in appendix C.

5 Implementation

NICE has developed tools to help organisations implement this guidance (see <u>www.nice.org.uk/guidance/CG134</u>)'.

6 Other versions of this guideline

6.1 NICE pathway

The recommendations from this guideline have been incorporated into a NICE pathway, which is available from

http://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/anaphylaxis

6.2 'Understanding NICE guidance'

A summary for patients and carers ('Understanding NICE guidance') is available from www.nice.org.uk/guidance/CG134/PublicInfo

For printed copies, phone NICE publications on 0845 003 7783 or email publications@nice.org.uk (quote reference number N2692).

We encourage NHS and voluntary sector organisations to use text from this booklet in their own information about anaphylaxis.

7 Related NICE guidance

Published

 Food allergy in children and young people. NICE clinical guideline 116 (2011). Available from <u>www.nice.org.uk/guidance/CG116</u>

Under development

NICE is developing the following guidance (details available from <u>www.nice.org.uk</u>):

Pharmalgen for the treatment of venom allergy. NICE technology appraisal guidance.

8 Updating the guideline

NICE clinical guidelines are updated so that recommendations take into account important new information. New evidence is checked 3 years after publication, and healthcare professionals and patients are asked for their views; we use this information to decide whether all or part of a guideline needs updating. If important new evidence is published at other times, we may decide to do a more rapid update of some recommendations. Please see our website for information about updating the guideline.

9 References

Brady WJ, Luber S, Carter T et al. (1996) Multiphasic anaphylaxis: an uncommon event in the emergency department. Academic Emergency Medicine 4:193–7

Brazil E, MacNamara AF (1998) Not so immediate hypersensitivity – the danger of biphasic anaphylactic reactions. Journal of Accident & Emergency Medicine 15: 252–4

Brown SG, Blackman KE, Heddle RJ (2004) Can serum mast cell tryptase help diagnose anaphylaxis? Emergency Medicine Australasia 16: 120–4 Cianferoni A, Novembre E et al. (2004) Anaphylaxis: a 7-year follow-up survey of 46 children. Annals of Allergy Asthma & Immunology 92(4): 464–8

De Swert LFA et al. (2008) Anaphylaxis in referred pediatric patients: demographic and clinical features, triggers, and therapeutic approach. European Journal of Pediatrics 167: 1251–61

Decker KW, Bellolio MF et al. (2008) Recurrent anaphylaxis events in patients presenting to the emergency department over a 10-year period. Annals of Emergency Medicine 51(4): 214

Douglas DM, Sukenick E, Andrade WP et al. (1994) Biphasic systemic anaphylaxis: an inpatient and outpatient study. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 93: 977–85

Ellis AK, Day JH (2007) Incidence and characteristics of biphasic anaphylaxis: a prospective evaluation of 103 patients. Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology 98: 64–70

Enrique E, Garcia-Ortega P, Sotorra O et al. (1999) Usefulness of UniCAP-Tryptase fluoroimmunoassay in the diagnosis of anaphylaxis. Allergy 54: 602– 6

Jarvinen KM, Amalanayagam S, Shreffler WG et al. (2009) Epinephrine treatment is infrequent and biphasic reactions are rare in food-induced reactions during oral food challenges in children. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 124: 1267–72

Jirapongsananuruk O, Bunsawansong W, Piyaphanee N et al. (2007) Features of patients with anaphylaxis admitted to a university hospital. Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology 98: 157–63

Kanthawatana S, Carias K, Arnaout R et al. (1999) The potential clinical utility of serum alpha-protryptase levels. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 103: 1092–9

Kastner M, Harada L, Waserman S (2010) Gaps in anaphylaxis management at the level of physicians, patients, and the community: a systematic review of the literature. Allergy 65: 435–44

Kroigaard M, Garvey LH, Menne T et al. (2005) Allergic reactions in anaesthesia: are suspected causes confirmed on subsequent testing? British Journal of Anaesthesia 95: 468–71

Laroche D, Aimone-Gastin I, Dubois F et al. (1998) Mechanisms of severe, immediate reactions to iodinated contrast material. Radiology 209: 183–90

Laroche D, Lefrancois C, Gerard JL et al. (1992a) Early diagnosis of anaphylactic reactions to neuromuscular blocking drugs. British Journal of Anaesthesia 69: 611–4.

Laroche D, Vergnaud MC, Dubois F et al. (1992b) Plasma histamine and tryptase during anaphylactoid reactions. Agents and Actions 36: C201–2

Laroche D, Vergnaud MC, Sillard B et al. (1991) Biochemical markers of anaphylactoid reactions to drugs. Comparison of plasma histamine and tryptase. Anesthesiology 75: 945–9

Lee JM and Greenes DS. (2000) Biphasic anaphylactic reactions in pediatrics. Pediatrics 106: 762–7

Liberman, D (2008) Management of anaphylaxis in children. Pediatric Emergency Care 24(12)

Lieberman P (2007) SAFE a multidisciplinary approach to anaphylaxis education in the emergency department. Annals of allergy, asthma and immunology 98(6)

Malinovsky JM, Decagny S, Wessel F et al. (2008) Systematic follow-up increases incidence of anaphylaxis during adverse reactions in anesthetized patients. Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica 52: 175–81

Mehl A, Wahn U et al. (2005) Anaphylactic reactions in children – a questionnaire-based survey in Germany. Allergy 60(11): 1440–5

Mehr S, Liew WK, Tey D et al. (2009) Clinical predictors for biphasic reactions in children presenting with anaphylaxis. Clinical and Experimental Allergy 39: 1390–6

Mertes PM, Laxenaire MC, Alla F et al. (2003) Anaphylactic and anaphylactoid reactions occurring during anesthesia in France in 1999–2000. Anesthesiology 99: 536–45

Múgica Garcia M, Tejedor Alonso M et al. (2010) A study of the recurrence of anaphylaxis. Allergy: European Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. Conference: 29th Congress of the European Academy of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, London, UK. Conference publication 65 (p587)

Mullins RJ (2003) Anaphylaxis: risk factors for recurrence. Clinical and Experimental Allergy 33(8): 1033–40

Ordoqui E, Zubeldia JM, Aranzabal A et al. (1997) Serum tryptase levels in adverse drug reactions. Allergy 52: 1102–5

Poachanukoon O, Paopairochanakorn C (2006) Incidence of anaphylaxis in the emergency department: a 1-year study in a university hospital. Asian Pacific Journal of Allergy and Immunology 24: 111–6

Sampson HA, Mendelson L, Rosen JP (1992) Fatal and near-fatal anaphylactic reactions to food in children and adolescents. New England Journal of Medicine 327: 380–4

Schwartz LB, Bradford TR, Rouse C et al. (1994) Development of a new, more sensitive immunoassay for human tryptase: use in systemic anaphylaxis. Journal of Clinical Immunology 14: 190–204

Schwartz LB, Metcalfe DD, Miller JS et al. (1987) Tryptase levels as an indicator of mast-cell activation in systemic anaphylaxis and mastocytosis. New England Journal of Medicine 316: 1622–6

Schwartz LB, Yunginger JW, Miller J et al. (1989) Time course of appearance and disappearance of human mast cell tryptase in the circulation after anaphylaxis. Journal of Clinical Investigation 83: 1551–5

Scranton SE, Gonzalez EG, and Waibel KH (2009) Incidence and characteristics of biphasic reactions after allergen immunotherapy. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 123: 493–8

Simons FER et al (2011) World Allergy Organisation anaphylaxis guidelines: summary. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 127(3): 587–93

Smit DV, Cameron PA, Rainer TH (2005) Anaphylaxis presentations to an emergency department in Hong Kong: incidence and predictors of biphasic reactions. Journal of Emergency Medicine 28: 381–8

Stark BJ, Sullivan TJ (1986) Biphasic and protracted anaphylaxis. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 78: 76–83

Stone SF, Cotterell C, Isbister GK et al. (2009) Elevated serum cytokines during human anaphylaxis: identification of potential mediators of acute allergic reactions. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 124: 786–92

Sweetman L (2006) Consultation and referral guidelines citing the evidence: how the allergist-immunologist can help. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 117: S495–S523

Waserman S, Chad Z, Francoeur MJ et al. (2010) Management of anaphylaxis in primary care: Canadian expert consensus recommendations. Allergy 65: 1082–92

Yang M-S, Lee S-H, Kim T-W et al. (2008) Epidemiologic and clinical features of anaphylaxis in Korea. Annals of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology 100: 31–6

Zeiger RS, Schatz M (2000) Effect of allergist intervention on patient-centered and societal outcomes: allergists as leaders, innovators, and educators. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 106: 995–1018

10 Glossary and abbreviations

Glossary

Anaphylaxis

Anaphylaxis is a severe, life-threatening, generalised or systemic hypersensitivity reaction. It is characterised by rapidly developing, life-threatening problems involving: the airway (pharyngeal or laryngeal oedema) and/or breathing (bronchospasm with tachypnoea) and/or circulation (hypotension and/or tachycardia). In most cases, there are associated skin and mucosal changes⁵.

Biphasic anaphylaxis

After complete recovery of anaphylaxis, a recurrence of symptoms within 72 hours with no further exposure to the allergen. It is managed in the same way as anaphylaxis.

Idiopathic anaphylaxis

Denotes a form of anaphylaxis where no identifiable stimulus can be found. All known causes of anaphylaxis must be excluded before this diagnosis can be reached.

Recurrence

A return of symptoms as part of the natural progress of a disease.

Suspected anaphylaxis

The diagnosis, prior to assessment by a specialist allergist, for people who present with symptoms of anaphylaxis.

In emergency departments a person who presents with the signs and symptoms of anaphylaxis may be classified as having a 'severe allergic' reaction rather than an 'anaphylactic' reaction. Throughout this guideline, anyone who presents with such signs and symptoms is classed as experiencing a 'suspected anaphylactic reaction', and should be diagnosed as having 'suspected anaphylaxis'.

⁵ Resuscitation Council (UK; 2008) Emergency treatment of anaphylactic reactions. Guidelines for healthcare providers.

Please see the NICE glossary

(<u>www.nice.org.uk/website/glossary/glossary.jsp</u>) for an explanation of terms not described above.

Appendix A Contributors and declarations of interests

The Guideline Development Group

Peter Howdle (Chair)

Emeritus Professor of Clinical Medicine, University of Leeds

Trevor Brown

Consultant Paediatric Allergist (secondary care), The Children's Allergy Service, The Ulster Hospital, Northern Ireland

Sue Clarke

Clinical Lead/Lecturer in Allergy and Paediatric Asthma, Education for Health, Warwick

Matthew Doyle

GP Partner, Cromwell Place Surgery, St Ives

Mandy East

Patient representative, The Anaphylaxis Campaign

Pamela Ewan

Consultant Allergist, Associate Lecturer and Head of Allergy Department, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and University of Cambridge Clinical School

David Glaser

Patient member

Nigel Harper

Consultant Anaesthetist, Central Manchester University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Prashant Kumar

Consultant Paediatrician, Sunderland Royal Hospital

Nicola Mundy Patient member

Louise Sinnott (December 2010 – April 2011)

Commissioner, North West Specialised Commissioning Team

Clare Taylor

Consultant in Emergency Medicine, Royal United Hospital, Bath

Lynette Williams

Paediatric Respiratory and Allergy Nurse Specialist, Shrewsbury and Telford Hospitals NHS Trust

Short Clinical Guidelines Technical Team

A Short Clinical Guidelines Technical Team was responsible for this guideline throughout its development. It prepared information for the Guideline Development Group, drafted the guideline and responded to consultation comments.

Mendwas Dzingina

Technical Analyst – Health Economics

Mark Baker Clinical Adviser

Nicole Elliott Associate Director

Michael Heath Programme Manager

Dylan Jones (June 2011 – December 2011) Technical Adviser

Prashanth Kandaswamy (December 2010 – March 2011)

Technical Adviser – Health Economics

Victoria Kelly Project Manager

Gabriel Rogers (June 2011 – December 2011)

Technical Adviser – Health Economics

Beth Shaw (December 2010 – March 2011)

Technical Adviser

Heather Stegenga

Technical Analyst

The Guideline Review Panel

The Guideline Review Panel is an independent panel that oversees the development of the guideline and takes responsibility for monitoring adherence to NICE guideline development processes. In particular, the panel ensures that stakeholder comments have been adequately considered and responded to. The panel includes members from the following perspectives: primary care, secondary care, lay, public health and industry.

Mr Peter Robb – Chair

Consultant ENT Surgeon, Epsom and St Helier University Hospitals and Royal Surrey County NHS Trust

Dr Aomesh Bhatt

Director of Regulatory and Medical Affairs (North Europe), Reckitt Benckiser Healthcare (UK)

Dr Greg Rogers General Practitioner, Kent

NICE Centre for Clinical Practice

Sharon Summers-Ma Associate Director

Rachel Ryle Guideline Commissioning Manager

Emma Banks

Guideline Coordinator

Sarah Palombella

Senior Medical Editor

Alan Pedder Medical Editor

Declarations of interests

	Interest declared	Type of interest	Decisions taken
Prashant Kumar	Facilitates an allergy service at Sunderland Royal Hospital.	Personal pecuniary, non-specific	Declare and can participate in discussions.
	Chair of the Northern Paediatric Allergy Group (NPAG), an association of all the allergists or those with an interest in allergy in the Northern East. The aim of this group is to get uniform guidelines for the management of allergy.	Personal non-pecuniary	Declare and can participate in discussions on all topics.
	Organised a BSACI-endorsed allergy training day for primary care professionals in November 2010. This was supported by pharmaceutical companies (no personal financial interest) including Nutricia, Mead Johnson, ALK-Abello, MSD, Phadia and Glaxo.	Personal pecuniary, non-specific	Declare and can participate in discussions on all topics because the work was not specific to anaphylaxis.
	Delivered educational, non-promotional talks to GPs for companies making asthma treatment and treatment for allergic rhinitis. This may be classed as paid work. Companies involved were Glaxo, MSD, Schering Plough (now MSD), Orion Pharma.	Personal pecuniary, non-specific	Declare and can participate in discussions on all topics because the work was not specific to anaphylaxis.
Nigel Harper	Chaired a working party of the Association of Anaesthetists of Great Britain and Ireland, which considered some issues that will be relevant to the NICE GDG.	Personal non-pecuniary	Declare and can participate in discussions on all topics.
Sue Clarke	Given sponsorship to attend the BSACI Conference in Nottingham in July paid for by ALK-Abello. (This is the company that will be launching their new Adrenaline Injector in September.)	Non-personal pecuniary	Declare and can participate in discussions on all topics.
	The Anaphylaxis Campaign received an educational grant from Lincoln Medical (manufacturer of the Anapen) for a project I was involved in from December 2009 to July 2010.	Non-personal pecuniary	Declare and can participate in discussions on all topics.
	Education for Health have received a fee for a project which I was involved in during spring 2010 from Merck Sharp & Dohme Ltd. (MSD) (manufacturers of Singulair, used for some kinds of allergic disease, but not food allergy).		
Lynette Williams	Received travel sponsorship from Novartis, ALK-Abello, GSK, Allergy Therapeutics Orion.	Personal non-pecuniary	Declare and can participate in discussions on all topics.
	Received speaker's fee for talks on allergy and asthma from ALK-	Personal pecuniary	Declare and can participate in discussions on all topics.

	Abello, GSK, Allergy Therapeutics.		
Mandy East	The Anaphylaxis Campaign receives funding from Lincoln Medical, ALK-Abello and Meda Pharmaceuticals. The National Allergy Strategy Group whom I also work with receives funding from ALK-Abello and Meda Pharmaceuticals. No money is given to me directly.	Non-personal pecuniary	Declare and can participate in discussions on all topics.
Pamela Ewan	Chair, National Allergy Strategy Group	Personal non-pecuniary	
Clare Taylor	No declarations		
Trevor Brown	No declarations		
Mathew Doyle	No declarations		
David Glaser	No declarations		
Nicola Mundy	No declarations		
Louise Sinnott	No declarations		

Appendix B List of all research recommendations

The Guideline Development Group has made the following recommendations for research, based on its review of evidence, to improve NICE guidance and patient care in the future.

B1 Mediators of anaphylactic reactions

Aside from mast cell tryptase, which other chemical inflammatory mediators offer potential as indicators of anaphylaxis?

Why this is important

Although mast cell tryptase is widely used to support the diagnosis of anaphylaxis, it is not universally suitable. Mast cell tryptase is not always elevated in children, when food is the allergen, or when the main severe feature is respiratory.

It is recommended that a cross-sectional study be carried out into the diagnostic accuracy of other potential chemical inflammatory mediators. The study should be conducted in both adults and children who have had a suspected anaphylactic reaction. The sensitivity and specificity of the proposed mediator should be compared against mast cell tryptase, using clinical assessment in conjunction with immuno-allergic study as the reference standard for both. The diagnostic accuracy of any mediator should be carried out for a range of potential allergens.

B2 The frequency and effects of biphasic reactions

What are the frequency, timing, severity and predictors of biphasic reactions in people who have received emergency treatment for anaphylaxis?

Why this is important

Limited evidence was found on the frequency, timing severity and predictors of biphasic reactions and the resulting effect of these on morbidity and mortality. It is recommended that a UK-based prospective cohort study be conducted that follows patients up after emergency treatment for anaphylaxis.

The study should follow people up for 7 days after discharge from the emergency department. The aim is to collect data on the predictors (for example, the person's response to the initial treatment), the time to any reaction, the severity of any biphasic reaction and the effect of the biphasic reaction on morbidity and mortality.

B3 Length of observation period following emergency treatment for anaphylaxis

For how long should a person who has received emergency treatment for anaphylaxis be observed?

Why this is important

No studies were found that compared different observational periods or the effect of these on relevant patient outcomes.

It is recommended that a cluster randomised controlled trial is conducted for people who have received emergency treatment for anaphylaxis.

The interventions for the trial should be differing time periods of observation, within the secondary care setting, ranging from 1 hour to 24 hours after symptom resolution of the index reaction. Patients should then be followed up for 7 days following the end of the observational period to determine if a biphasic reaction has occurred and the effects of any reaction. The aim is to determine whether differing periods of observation have a detrimental effect on morbidity and mortality and to gather information about resource use.

B4 Prevalence of anaphylactic reactions and related outcomes

What is the annual incidence of anaphylaxis and its related outcomes within the UK?

Why this is important

Limited evidence exists on the annual incidence of anaphylactic reactions and their associated outcomes within the UK.

It is recommended that a prospective observational study be conducted that records the annual incidence of anaphylactic reactions within the UK.

The overall number of anaphylactic reactions that occur in adults and children should be recorded and these should be classified into those that are first-time reactions, recurrent reactions or biphasic reactions. A clear, pre-defined, definition of what constitutes an anaphylactic reaction should be used, in order to avoid the misclassification of milder reactions. Data should also be collected on any emergency treatment that was delivered (by a clinician, use of an adrenaline injector) and the associated outcomes (morbidity, mortality, adverse events). Data should also be collected on any previous treatment received, such as that from a specialist allergy service or the provision of adrenaline injectors.

B5 Effect of specialist services on health-related quality of life.

For people who have experienced suspected anaphylaxis, what is the effect on health-related quality of life of (a) referral to specialist allergy services and (b) provision of adrenaline injectors, when compared with emergency treatment alone?

Why this is important

The GDG believed that referral to specialist services and/or the provision of adrenaline injectors was likely to provide day-to-day HRQoL benefit for people who have experienced suspected anaphylaxis, as a result of decreased anxiety and ongoing support. However, the health economic model relied on GDG opinion alone to quantify this benefit. Future economic analyses would be greatly improved by a reliable demonstration of this effect and an estimate of its magnitude. It is recommended that data are collected using validated measure(s) of HRQoL, including EQ-5D.

Appendix C Guideline scope

Appendix D How this guideline was developed

Appendix E Evidence tables

Appendix F Full health economic report

Appendix G Technical assessment report (sections 3.3.2 and 3.3.4)